
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board

Date Friday 14 September 2018
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members of 
the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2018  (Pages 3 - 8)
4. Declarations of Interest  
5. Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan (7) - Report of 

the Director of Transformation and Partnerships.  (Pages 9 - 12)
6. Medium Term Financial Plan(9), 2019/20-2022/23 and Reviews of the Local 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme, Council Tax Discounts and Business 
Discretionary Rate Reliefs - Joint Report of the Corporate Director of 
Resources and Director of Transformation and Partnerships.  
(Pages 13 - 88)

7. Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 (Resources and TAP)  
(Pages 89 - 104)
(i) Report of the Corporate Director of Resources
(ii) Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships

8. Quarter 1 June 2018: Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19  
(Resources and TAP)  (Pages 105 - 118)
(i) Report of the Corporate Director of Resources
(ii) Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships



9. Update in relation to Petitions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services  (Pages 119 - 128)

10. Notice of Key Decisions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services  
(Pages 129 - 138)

11. Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships  
(Pages 139 - 144)

12. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, is of 
sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
6 September 2018

To: The Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board

Councillor R Crute (Chairman)
Councillor A Patterson (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors E Adam, A Batey, R Bell, D Boyes, J Chaplow, M Clarke, K Hawley, 
P Jopling, H Liddle, L Maddison, J Makepeace, C Martin, O Milburn, P Oliver, 
C Potts, L Pounder, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, M Simmons, H Smith, F Tinsley, 
J Turnbull, M Wilkes and A Willis

Other attendees:
Councillor A Hopgood, A Shield and J Shuttleworth

Contact: Lucy Gladders Email: 03000 269712



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board held in Council 
Chamber, Crook - Crook Council Offices on Friday 22 June 2018 at 10.30 am

Present:

Councillor R Crute (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors A Patterson (Vice-Chairman), E Adam, A Batey, R Bell, M Clarke, P Jopling, 
H Liddle, J Makepeace, C Martin, O Milburn, F Tinsley, J Turnbull and L Taylor

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors K Hawley, L Maddison, 
L Pounder, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, H Smith and A Willis.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitutes.

3 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 April 2018 

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 April 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

4 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations on interest submitted.

5 Transformation Programme Update 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which provided an update on progress in the Council’s Transformation Programme 
(for copy see file of Minutes).

The Head of Transformation provided an overview of the programme and its 
outcomes which would be achieved by utilising the “Inspire brand” and three broad 
areas of interconnected activity, which were: Inspiring Change, Inspiring People 
and Inspiring Places. Paragraph 13 of the report detailed progress in those areas 
and highlighted key achievements and milestones.

Councillor Jopling asked what commercial options the council was exploring to 
sustain income and expand business. The Head of Transformation advised that the 
council would build upon initiatives and maximise opportunities in respect of Atom 
Bank, Chapter Homes, development of Forrest Park and other options within 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



facilities management. He did however remind members that the council was not 
intending to compete with other businesses but would where possible maximise 
income by shifting thinking.
 
Further discussion took place regarding the libraries review and it was noted that 
this process had just started and further updates in this regard would be provided at 
a later date. In addition a query was received from Councillor Martin regarding the 
closure of the DLI and whether there had been any joined up thinking regarding its 
relocation alongside the move for the County Records Office. The Head of 
Transformation advised that the DLI closure was a separate project and had not 
been included as part of the Transformation Programme. 

Councillor Adam commented that he was grateful for the opportunity to view the 
new offices at Crook, however what arrangements there would be for hot desking / 
use of meetings rooms etc. for councillors in the future.

In response the Head of Transformation advised that a review of how services 
would be provided in localities and various member training and development 
sessions would be held. With regard to the Members Portal, Councillor Crute 
advised that this had been previously discussed by the committee and would be 
further reviewed as part of the committees work programme. 

Further discussion ensued regarding the proposed new HQ and the Head of 
Transformation advised that a planning application would be submitted in 
July/August of this year and a pre-application consultation period would commence 
early July.

Councillor Makepeace commented that whilst he supported the rationalisation of 
the council’s building assets he did feel that the council were not so successful in 
cleaning up the area once a building had been vacated and many had been left in a 
dilapidated state. The Head of Transformation advised that the comments had been 
taken on board and reiterated that a full review of the asset service was to be 
undertaken to ensure that the council were achieving the best out of the portfolio.

Further debate took place regarding the work which had been undertaken at Crook 
and the longer term benefits for the workforce and the savings that would be 
achieved. It was noted that all staff involved should be congratulated and formal 
thanks be passed on to those staff at Crook.

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

6 Customer Feedback: Quarter 4 and Annual Statutory Representations 

The Board considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Resources, 
Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services which presented the Customer Feedback: 
Complaints, Compliments and Suggestions report for 2017/18 Year End; the 
Annual Statutory representations report for the Children’s Social Care Services 
2017/18; and the Annual Statutory Representations report for Adults Social Care 
Services 2017/18 (for copy see file of Minutes).

Page 4



Councillor Makepeace commented that he was aware of a number of issues which 
residents had raised as causing discontent; including the street lighting energy 
reduction project (SLERP), tree crowning/cutting back and maintenance of areas 
owned by Housing Associations.

Councillor Bell in referencing paragraph 35, noted that it was important that those 
individuals who required additional support to progress their Universal Credit claims 
were assisted and offered suitable help. He further asked what broader support 
outside of Universal Credit would be available for digitisation. The Head of Digital 
and Customer Services advised that staff were available to help customers at 
Customer Access Points and Libraries.

Councillor Batey noted that she was aware that some residents had been let down 
by the bulky waste collection services whereby collections had been delayed and 
promises made by call centre staff had not been fulfilled. She further commented 
that as previously discussed the CRM system did lack in information relating to 
reference/case numbers. The Head of Digital and Customer Services in response, 
advised that he was not aware of the delays in the bulky waste collection service 
although did acknowledge that work was being done to improve the calendar 
booking system. With regard to the comments raised relating to the CRM system, 
Councillor Crute suggested that this be raised when the update of the 
recommendations of the CRM review is brought back to a future COSMB.

Councillor Turnbull further queried when the council’s tree policy had last been 
reviewed and also noted that he was aware that there were some issues regarding 
incorrect meeting information being posted to the council’s twitter feed. 

Councillor Crute suggested that the queries raised regarding the councils tree 
policy be referred to the suitable committee. The Head of Digital and Customer 
Services further noted the issues raised regarding miscommunication via twitter and 
advised that he would follow this up. 

Councillor Tinsley raised a query with regard to statutory complaints within Adults 
Services and Children and Young People’s Services and whether the number of 
complaints was linked to the volume of caseload that was being dealt with by 
officers. The Head of Strategy advised that this could be further addressed in the 
following report.

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

7 Quarter Four 2017/18 Performance Management Report 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which presented progress against the council’s corporate performance framework 
by Altogether priority theme for the fourth quarter of the 2017/18 financial year (for 
copy see file of Minutes).

It was reported that during 2017/18, 69% of performance indicators improved with 
4% maintaining performance. The Head of Strategy went on to provide a summary 

Page 5



of key performance improvements and further provided details of key challenges 
and changes to reporting arrangements.

Members were referred to page 32 of the report onwards which provided details of 
performance across the 6 themes in a visual format which highlighted key 
messages.

Councillor Tinsley in referring to paragraph 47 of the report noted the worsening of 
sickness absence across the quarter and that the highest contributing factors were 
due to mental health and workplace stress. He therefore queried whether this was 
as a result of staff reductions and increasing workloads. Furthermore, in offering 
comparisons to the private sector he queried whether it was known what the 5 year 
trend for sickness absence was and what was being done to address it. 

The Head of Strategy, in response advised that benchmarking was a difficult task 
as Durham County Council were not the average public sector organisation given 
its scale, nature of work and large profile of staff who were over 50 years of age. 
She further noted that sickness absence performance had improved since last year 
however management team were focussed on the issue and were mindful of the 
pressure faced by staff due to increasing workloads.

Further discussion ensued as to where the target figure had been derived from. It 
was noted that this had been calculated on the basis of looking at each service 
grouping, what had been achieved and setting a challenging but realistic target for 
each. 

Councillor Jopling raised a query regarding long term sick and how it potentially 
could skew the figures. The Head of Strategy, acknowledged this issue, however 
noted the vigorous HR procedures which were in place and the work which was 
being done to improve workspaces to help assist people in getting back to work. 
She further noted that this was an area which was being looked at by the Health 
and Wellbeing at Work Strategy. In addition, Councillor Bell raised a query with 
regard to schools and academies and the Head of Strategy also advised that school 
improvement had been looked at by the Children and Young People’s Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

8 Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/2018 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which presented the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18 for comment 
and approval prior to its submission to the County Council meeting on 18 July 2018 
(for copy see file of Minutes).

Resolved: That the content of the report be approved for submission to County 
Council.

Page 6



9 Review of the Committee's Work Programme 2018-19 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which provided an updated work programme for the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB) 2018-19.

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

10 Update in relation to Petitions 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services which 
provided a quarterly update in relation to the current situation regarding various 
petitions received by the Authority.

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

11 Notice of Key Decisions 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services which 
presented the list of key decisions that were scheduled to be considered by the 
Executive (for copy see file of Minutes).

Resolved: That the content of report be noted.

12 Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which provided am update of overview and scrutiny activity from 20 April – June 
2018 (for copy see file of Minutes).

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



V0.1

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board
14 September 2018

Cabinet

11th July 2018

Update on the delivery of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan 7

Report of Corporate Management Team

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director Transformation and Partnerships

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council and all Cabinet 
collectively

Purpose of the Report

1 This report provides confirmation that the 2017/18  Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP7) has been successfully delivered.

Background

2 Cabinet has received regular updates on the progress made by the Council in 
delivering the financial targets within the MTFP since 2011/12.  

3 The latest MTFP7 was agreed by Council in February 2017 and set a savings 
target of just over £23 milion.  This brings the overall savings target for the 
period from 2011/12 to 2019/20 of around £250 million.

Progress to date

4 The delivery of the MTFP is being managed with a very robust programme 
management approach being adopted to ensure we take into account:

 Our duties under the Equality Act

 Appropriate consultation

 The HR implications of the change including consultation with 
employees and trade unions

 Communication of the change and the consultation results

 Sound risk management.

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



V0.1

5 Through this robust approach we continue to take in managing the 
programme to deliver the savings required, the plans for 2017/18 have now 
been successfully delivered.  With all of the savings delivered to the end of 
March 2018, since 2011 we have now made over £209 million of savings 
including Public Health.

6 Members have been advised of the careful planning and monitoring of the 
savings that is carried out, on occasions plans need to change which could 
delay when savings are made, but through the ongoing management of the 
process we are able to smooth out delivery of savings using cash limits, 
ensuring we haven’t missed our overall savings targets.

Consultation 

7 There were no public consultations relating to MTFP7 during this last quarter.  

HR implications

8 In the fourth quarter of 2017/18 we accepted 68 ER/VR applications and 
made 1 employee compulsory redundant as a result of the MTFP proposals.  
As per our usual approach of delivering our savings early the majority of this 
activity relates to proposals that will help deliver the savings for MTFP7.  

9 During 2017/18 179 employees left via ER/VR or VR, we have deleted 105.5 
vacant posts and made 24 posts compulsory redundant.  

10 Since 2011 a total of 1,514 ER/VR applications have been accepted, 704 
vacant posts deleted and 586 compulsory redundancies made.

11 Data relating to staff leaving through voluntary redundancy and ER/VR during 
this quarter showed that 95% were female and 5% were male. It should be 
noted that leavers this quarter were from service areas where there are much 
higher than average proportions of female staff overall.  The staff numbers of 
those leaving through compulsory redundancies are too low to analyse.  

12 During 2017/18, 78% of all MTFP related leavers were female. Overall, 70% 
of leavers had not disclosed a disability, 26% said they were not disabled and 
4% said that they had a disability. Around 2% of leavers overall were BME.

13 The Council continues to support employees affected by the MTFP savings 
plans and the total number of staff who have been redeployed is 442 since 
the process started.

14 Up to the end of March 2018 we have 128 open expressions of interest for 
ER/VR which are actively monitored and supported wherever possible in 
order to reduce the need for future compulsory redundancies.  

Equality Impact Assessments 

15 Equality impact assessments (EIA) form a key part of the ongoing MTFP 
process. A number of initial screenings for new savings and updated EIAs for 
ongoing savings were provided to Cabinet ahead of the budget setting 
decision in February 2017.  They are updated during the year to take account 

Page 10



V0.1

of consultation responses and additional evidence; the updates also include 
information on any mitigating actions.

16 The impact assessments and action plans are considered during decision 
making processes, for example, updated EIAs are provided where Cabinet 
receive a report ahead of consultation and where a further report is received 
with any final recommendations.

Conclusions

17 We are continuing to assume the Government’s austerity programme will 
continue for several more years, however the Council remains in a strong 
position to meet the ongoing financial challenges and through the robust 
management process supporting the MTFP ensures we remain ahead of the 
savings target requirements. 

18 We can confirm that the Council has delivered all of the savings planned for
2017/18 through MTFP7 which brings the total savings made since 2011 to 
over £209 million including savings in Public Health.

19 Work is now underway implementing the plans for delivery of MTFP8 which 
will deliver a further £14.8 million of savings by the end of March 2019.

Recommendations

20 Members are recommended to note the contents of this report and the 
progress made in delivering MTFP7.

Contact:        Andy Palmer, Head of Transformation & Partnerships 
                      Tel: 03000 268551            

Page 11



V0.1

Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – The delivery of the MTFP involves cumulative saving of approximately 
£250million over the period from 2011 to 2020 of which over £209million has been 
delivered to date.  

Staffing – Where the proposals affect staff, full consultation is undertaken and the 
trade unions consulted.  Wherever possible, staff reductions are done through 
voluntary means.  In addition, there has been a proactive management of vacancies 
to lessen the impact on staff and the Council has a redeployment process which 
continues to find alternative employment for a number of staff

Risk – The delivery of the MTFP is highlighted as one of the Council’s strategic risks 
and is monitored through the corporate risk management process.  In addition, risks 
for individual proposals are being monitored through the work undertaken to deliver 
the proposal.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – An Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) was undertaken for the original 4 year MTFP plan and additional 
screening was undertaken for proposals which have been identified for subsequent 
MTFPs, together with any other changes made to the original plan.  In addition, for 
each proposal an EIA is undertaken as part of the decision-making before the 
proposal is implemented.  

 Accommodation - As proposals are planned the impact on accommodation is 
ascertained, with staff being consulted on any moves as part of the process.  The 
loss of over 2,500 posts from the Authority will mean a requirement for less 
accommodation and the Office Accommodation Team has built this into the Office 
Accommodation Strategy.

Crime and Disorder – N/A

Human Rights – N/A

Consultation – A full consultation with a range of stakeholders was undertaken on 
the MTFP prior to its agreement and again in 2013.  In addition, where appropriate 
for individual proposals, internal and external consultation plans are developed so 
that consultation informs the decision making process.

Procurement – A number of the proposals involve the changing of existing contracts 
and this work is being taken forward through the Council’s agreed procurement 
processes.

Disability Issues – Any disability impacts are being picked up through the Equality 
Impact Assessments undertaken.

Legal Implications – The legal implications of any decisions required are being 
considered as part of the delivery of the proposals.

Page 12



Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

14 September 2018

Medium Term Financial Plan(9), 2019/20-
2022/23 and Reviews of the Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme, Council Tax 
Discounts and Business Discretionary 
Rate Reliefs 

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships 

Purpose of the Report

1 To provide an update to Members of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board (COSMB) on the proposed approach to scrutiny of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20-2022/23, and an initial opportunity to 
scrutinise proposals.

Background

2 In July 2018, a report to Cabinet set out the details of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan (9), 2019/20- 2022/23 and Reviews of the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme, Council Tax Discounts and Business Discretionary Rate Reliefs  
(attached at Appendix 2).

3 COSMB have prioritised scrutiny of the MTFP and budget as part of their work 
programme.

Summary of Cabinet report 

4 The Cabinet report includes information on:

a. an update on the development of the 2019/20 budget since the Council 
agreed its MTFP(8) strategy on 21 February 2018;

b. details of savings plans for 2019/20; 

c. an update on the MTFP(9) savings forecast for the period 2019/20 to 
2022/23; 

d. a draft MTFP(9) decision making timetable;

e. proposed approach for consultation of MTFP(9);

f. workforce implications;

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



g. equality considerations;

h. consideration of the proposed Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(LCTRS) for 2019/20;

i. consideration of the annual review of the Council’s Council Tax 
Discretionary Discounts (Hardship Relief) Policy and the Council Tax 
Exemption for Care Leavers Policy;

j. consideration of updated Local Discretionary Rates Relief Policy.

5 It is proposed that scrutiny of the MTFP and budget will be according to the 
timetable for the MTFP process, as below.  The Committee will be notified of any 
variations to the overall MTFP timetable, which sometimes occur if the 
government settlement is late. There has been one change since the July 
timetable, set out at para 35 of the attached Cabinet report. It is no longer 
planned to take an additional report to October Cabinet as a full savings list was 
included in the July report. This means that the next scrutiny session is planned 
for December to receive information on the settlement and MTFP consultation.

6
Date Action

11 July

14 September

October/November

14 November

Early December

12 December

17 December

16 January

6 February

13 February

20 February

MTFP report to Cabinet

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board consider 11 July Cabinet Report

MTFP Consultation period

Tax Base/Collection Fund report to Cabinet

2019/20 Finance Settlement announced by DCLG

MTFP/Council Plan report to Cabinet – consultation 
outcomes

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board consider 12 December Cabinet Report

MTFP/Council Plan report to Cabinet – (if required)

Budget Report to Cabinet

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board consider 6 February Cabinet Report

Council Budget and MTFP report

Page 14



Recommendations

7 It is recommended that Members of COSMB: 

(i) Consider and comment upon the July Cabinet report on Medium Term 
Financial Plan(9), 2019/20-2022/23 and Reviews of the Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme, Council Tax Discounts and Business Discretionary Rate 
Reliefs.

(i) Note the revised timetable for subsequent scrutiny discussions.

Contact: Jenny Haworth (03000 268071)

Page 15



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – The report sets out arrangements to scrutinise MTFP (9) proposals.

Staffing – The savings proposals in MTFP (9) will impact upon employees.

Risk – None specific within this report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – Equalities considerations 
are built into the proposed approach to developing MTFP (9)

Accommodation – None specific within this report.

Crime and Disorder – None specific within this report.

Human Rights – Any human rights issues will be considered for any detailed MTFP 
(9) proposals as they are developed.

Consultation – This report sets out scrutiny input into MTFP (9) consultation.

Procurement – None specific to this report.

Disability Issues – All requirements will be considered as part of equalities 
considerations.

Legal Implications – None specific within this report.

Page 16



Appendix 2
 Cabinet

11 July 2018

Medium Term Financial Plan(9), 2019/20-
2022/23 and Reviews of the Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme, Council Tax 
Discounts and Business Discretionary 
Rate Reliefs 

CORP/R/18/01

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council

Purpose of the Report

1 To provide an update on the development of the 2019/20 budget and the 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP(9)) . The report also considers reviews of 
the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, Council Tax Discounts and 
Business Rates Discretionary Rate Relief.

Executive Summary

2 Local Government is operating in a period of significant financial uncertainty 
brought about by a combination of on-going austerity, pressures in social care 
services and other unfunded pressures arising from pay and price inflation. 
The financial outlook for the Council will continue to be extremely challenging 
for the foreseeable future, with government funding reductions confirmed as 
continuing until at least 2020. 

3 The Fair Funding review is scheduled for implementation from April 2020 
alongside a move to 75% Business Rates Retention (BRR). There is no 
certainty as to future local authority funding allocations beyond this point and 
there is no clarity on how funding will be distributed at this stage. It is clear 
however that there are significant risks to the Council’s funding depending on 
the principles that are agreed for fair funding distribution and how the move to 
75% BRR is implemented. It is also clear that the Council is likely to face 
further unfunded cost pressures in the future. 

4 Early indications from the Fair Funding review discussions are that there is a 
growing risk that government may adopt the Advisory Council for Resource 

Page 17



Allocation (ACRA) methodology for apportioning Public Health Grant from 
April 2020, and from this date Public Health Grant will form part of BRR. This 
is a significant financial risk - the Council would be the biggest loser of Public 
Health funding of any authority in the country losing a forecast £19 million 
(circa 35%) of current public health funding. Based on the modelling 
undertaken, the major beneficiary of these changes would be Surrey County 
Council who would benefit from an increase of circa £14 million. In the main, 
the ACRA formula sees a significant shift in Public Health funding from 
deprived areas to more affluent areas.

5 It is likely that any variance in government grant allocations resulting from the 
Fair Funding review will be implemented across a five year transition period. If 
the Council were to lose funding therefore, it is expected this will be 
implemented across a five year time frame. Assumed losses of government 
funding resulting from the Fair Funding review have been included in the 
MTFP for the first time.

6 At this stage, the Council is planning on the basis of a Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG) reduction of £14.24 million in 2019/20. This will be the final year of the 
current four year settlement. The Council has taken into account assumed 
government funding reductions, forecast increase in other income streams 
and assumed base budget pressures in developing a four year MTFP(9) plan. 

7 Although the settlement from government is unchanged to that reported to 
Council in February 2017, in line with previous practice the MTFP Model has 
been reviewed. Savings of £35.3 million are forecast to be required to balance 
the budget over the 2019/20 to 2022/23 period. Savings are forecast to be 
required in all years of MTFP(9) as budget pressures and the impact of 
funding reductions outstrip the Council’s ability to generate additional income 
from business rates and council tax. 

8 The achievement of an additional £35.3 million of savings over the next four 
years will be extremely challenging – more so given the savings that have 
already been made. The emphasis since 2011/12 has been to minimise 
savings from front line services by protecting them wherever possible whilst 
maximising savings in management and support functions.  This is becoming 
much more difficult however, as the scope for further savings in managerial 
and back office efficiencies is becoming exhausted following the delivery of 
£224 million of savings up to 31 March 2019. 

9 The total savings required at this stage for 2019/20 to balance the budget 
amount to £8.8 million, which is 25% of the £35.3 million estimated to be 
required over the next four years. Savings plans have been developed for 
2019/20 in addition to those agreed by Council on 21 February 2018. These 
savings are detailed in this report.  A significant proportion of the savings 
identified for 2019/20 are generated from the Transformation Programme 
which aims to support the MTFP in the coming years and to protect front line 
services wherever possible. Savings plans will continue to be developed in 
the coming months to seek to balance the budget beyond 2019/20. The 
Council will also consider how best to utilise the Budget Support Reserve 

Page 18



(BSR) across the MTFP(9) period to ensure the impact of all savings plans 
are carefully considered and consulted on. The current balance on the BSR 
as reported to Council on 21 February 2018 is £29.6 million.

10 The Council, along with Northumberland, are the only two local authorities in 
the North East to have retained entitlement levels for Council Tax support 
within the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) in line with that 
which applied under the national Council Tax Benefit regime prior to 2013/14.  
The policy has protected vulnerable residents at a time when welfare reform 
changes have had a significant adverse impact.  This report recommends that 
the current LCTRS is retained for a further year into 2019/20.  Should the 
Cabinet agree, the Council will need to formally adopt this policy at Full 
Council prior to 11 March 2019. 

11 This report also considers the annual review of the Council Tax Discretionary 
Discounts (Hardship Relief) Policy and the Council Tax Exemption for Care 
Leavers Policy, plus the updated Local Discretionary Rate Relief Policy. 

Background 

12 To ensure MTFP(9) can be developed effectively and savings targets 
delivered in time to produce a balanced budget, it is important that a robust 
plan and timetable is agreed and followed. 

13 The current MTFP(8) forecast that the Council agreed on 21 February 2018 
covers the four year period 2018/19 to 2021/22.  It is recommended at this 
stage that MTFP(9) covers a four year period 2019/20 to 2022/23 which takes 
plans up to the end of current four year confirmed settlement in 2019/20, plus 
a further three years. During this period the Council will continue to face 
significant budget pressures, especially relating to the National Living Wage 
and Social Care whilst facing the uncertainty over the impact of the Fair 
Funding review. Planning across the medium term in this way ensures that 
decisions can be made in the knowledge of the likely financial position of the 
Council and provides a basis for effective decision making taking account of 
the best estimates of income and expenditure. 

14 At this stage of the planning cycle for MTFP(9) the following areas are 
presented for consideration by Cabinet:

(a) an update on the development of the 2019/20 budget since the Council 
agreed its MTFP(8) strategy on 21 February 2018;

(b) details of savings plans for 2019/20; 

(c) an update on the MTFP(9) savings forecast for the period 2019/20 to 
2022/23; 

(d) a draft MTFP(9) decision making timetable;

(e) proposed approach for consultation of MTFP(9);

Page 19



(f) workforce implications;

(g) equality considerations;

(h) consideration of the proposed Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(LCTRS) for 2019/20;

(i) consideration of the annual review of the Council’s Council Tax 
Discretionary Discounts (Hardship Relief) Policy and the Council Tax 
Exemption for Care Leavers Policy;

(j) consideration of updated Local Discretionary Rates Relief Policy.

Review of MTFP Model

15 As set out earlier in the report, the financial outlook for the Council continues 
to be extremely challenging with government funding reductions confirmed as 
continuing until at least 2020.  The national finances are forecast to be in 
deficit until at least 2022/23 and as such there is still a possibility that 
government funding reductions could extend beyond 2019/20. In addition 
there is uncertainty in relation to the impact of the 2019 Comprehensive 
Spending Review (CSR), the Fair Funding review and the move to 75% BRR.

16 The national finances continue to face significant uncertainty as the 
performance of the economy is not meeting expectations. There is also the 
significant uncertainty in relation to the impact of Brexit. 

17 The Council will need to continually review the MTFP(9) projections and 
savings requirements over the coming months in light of future 
announcements.

18 The Council will receive additional Improved Better Care Fund monies in 
2019/20 of £5.7 million although there is a subsequent reduction of £4 million 
in 2020/21. The government has always indicated that the Improved Better 
Care Fund was short term support for Adult Social Care. At this stage there is 
no clarity as to whether the Council will receive further Improved Better Care 
Fund allocations in the future.

19 In line with previous years, a thorough review of the Council’s budget has 
taken place subsequent to the approval of MTFP (8) by the Council on 21 
February 2018.  This has resulted in a number of changes to the assumptions 
built into 2019/20 and where necessary future years’ budget models.  The key 
adjustments and major areas for consideration are detailed below: 

(a) Revenue Support Grant (RSG) / Fair Funding Review

Reductions in RSG for 2019/20 of £14.2 million were confirmed by the 
government as part of the Council’s current four year settlement. For 
planning purposes at this stage it is assumed that there will be no 
further core funding reductions across the MTFP(9) period as a result 

Page 20



of further austerity reductions. The picture may become clearer in this 
regard after the 2019 CSR outcome is published. 

There are major risks to the Council of changes to the public health 
grant formula (ACRA) which is being considered as part of the Fair 
Funding review although there is no clarity on the wider impact of the 
review outcomes. At this stage it is prudent to build in an assumption of 
a £2 million per annum reduction in government funding from 2020/21 
for a five year transition period as a result of the Fair Funding review. 
This represents at this stage, a forecast of a total loss of £10 million of 
funding for the Council from the Fair Funding review outcomes. Clearly, 
the Council will lobby throughout the review process however at this 
stage this provision is considered prudent. This position will need to be 
continually reviewed across the MTFP(9) period.

(b) Housing Benefit Administration Grant

This grant has been reduced annually for a number of years although 
there has been no significant reduction in workload in terms of housing 
benefit processing. Workloads over the coming years however will be 
impacted due to the introduction of the Universal Credit. Although the 
workload will reduce it is forecast that the reduction in grant will far 
outstrip the council’s ability to reduce costs. Reductions in the grant 
have been built into the MTFP for 2019/20 and 2020/21. 
 

(c) Council Tax – Adult Social Care Precept

MTFP(9) includes an assumption that the Council will utilise the adult 
social care flexibility to increase council tax by an additional 2% on top 
of the forecast 3% referendum level in 2019/20. There is no firm 
confirmation from government however that the referendum limit will be 
3% in 2019/20 although an increase of 3% was included in the 
government’s core spending power published calculations for 2019/20. 
In MTFP(9) it is assumed that the adult social care precept flexibility 
will end after 2019/20 and that the Council will continue to increase 
Council Tax at 1.99% across the remainder of MTFP(9).

(d) Council Tax / Business Rate Tax Base Increases 

An assumption had been built in MTFP(8) of a £1.5 million annual 
increase in the tax base for both council tax and business rates across 
the period 2019/20 to 2021/22. Regular reviews are carried out on tax 
base increases and at this stage it is forecast that the assumptions can 
be amended as follows which will support MTFP(9):

£m
2019/20 2.5
2020/21 3.0
2021/22 1.5
2022/23 1.5

Page 21



(e) National Living Wage (NLW)

MTFP(8) assumptions were based upon the Low Pay Commission’s 
November 2018 report. The report forecast that the future increases in 
the NLW would be as follows:

£ per hour % increase
2018/19     7.83       4.4%
2019/20     8.18       4.5%
2020/21     8.57       4.8%
2021/22     8.83       3.0%

Base budget pressures have been included across the MTFP(9) period 
for the impact of the NLW based upon the above position. This impact 
in the main relates to price increases the Council will be required to pay 
to private sector providers to take account of their increased costs 
across the MTFP(9) period. The Council includes a 1.5% annual price 
inflation allowance across the MTFP(9) period but this is unlikely to 
suffice when private sector provider costs can be increasing due to 3% 
- 4.8% increases in the NLW. The major impact in this regard relates to 
the private sector social care providers.

The MTFP(9) NLW budget pressure assumes an additional increase in 
2022/23 and also takes into account the possible likely impact upon the 
Council’s own pay structure. 

(f) Children’s Social Care Staffing

A £0.4 million base budget pressure has been included in 2019/20 to 
enable investment to be made in an employee retention strategy for 
key Children’s social workers which brings the Council in line with 
many others across the region and will enable social work to flourish 
within managed caseloads and good outcomes for children, young 
people and their families. 

(g) Job Evaluation

Higher Principal Officer (HPO) grades will be job evaluated to ensure 
the pay structure reflects the changing demands and expectations of 
these roles. Savings of circa £3 million have previously been made 
from management structures across the council.   As has been the 
case with previous job evaluation exercises, provision is being made 
for the estimated costs of implementing the outcome of this evaluation 
process, estimated at £500,000. 

(h) Prudential Borrowing

Page 22



A review has been carried out in relation to the profiled spend of the 
capital budget, the timing of borrowing and the timing of when the 
Council is required to make a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
charge. This has enabled a reduction in the forecast additional revenue 
budget required to support the capital programme through prudential 
borrowing. The reductions are as detailed in the table below:

MTFP (8) MTFP (9)     Difference
    £m      £m        £m

2019/20     1.0     0.25      (0.75)
2020/21     2.0     0.75      (1.25)

2019/20 Savings Forecast

20 Based upon the revised assumptions detailed in this report, the savings 
requirement for 2019/20 is forecast to be £8.8 million, slightly lower than the 
MTFP(8) forecast of £9.9 million. The reduction in the main, relates to the 
review of the tax base and prudential borrowing requirement detailed 
previously in the report. The 2019/20 £8.8 million saving figure is inflated due 
to the need to recover the £0.339 million of the BSR utilised in 2018/19 to 
balance the budget and delay the impact of savings upon front line services.

21 In MTFP(8) a range of savings of £2.445 million were approved which would 
be achieved in 2019/20. As part of the MTFP(9) process these savings have 
been reviewed and reduced by £0.155 million to £2.290 million. This reduction 
relates to a review of business support services in Children and Young 
People’s Services. This saving has been subsumed into a broader review of 
business support services as part of the Transformation Programme and is 
referenced later in the report.

22 In addition to the £2.29 million of savings detailed above, additional savings of 
£5.637 million have been identified at this stage for 2019/20. These savings 
are detailed in Appendix 2. A number of these savings relate to commercial 
developments considered as part of the Transformation Programme. The 
current forecast position for 2019/20 is as follows:

£m  £m
2019/20 Savings Requirement 8.845

MTFP (8) Approved Savings (2.290)
Additional MTFP Savings (5.637)
Total Forecast Savings           (7.927)
SAVINGS SHORTFALL           (0.918)

23 The table above highlights a current savings shortfall in 2019/20 of £0.918 
million. Work will continue in the coming months to seek to identify additional 
savings to address the shortfall. It is expected that if there is still a shortfall in 
savings at the time Council agree the budget in February 2019, then the BSR 
will be utilised. 

Page 23



24 Savings driven through the Transformation Programme will continue to 
contribute to the achievement of savings across MTFP(9) with prospective 
savings for the period 2020/21 to 2022/23 detailed later in the report.

MTFP(9) – 2019/20 to 2022/23 Update

25 The adjustments to MTFP(9) planning detailed in this report have impacted 
upon the forecast savings requirements for the 2019/20 to 2022/23 period. 
This is especially the case in relation to the forecast loss of £6 million of 
funding relating to the transfer of Public Health grant into BRR. 

26 The current forecast of savings required for the period 2019/20 to 2022/23 are 
detailed below:

Savings Requirement 
       £m

2019/20         8.845
2020/21      12.372
2021/22        7.447
2022/23        6.650
 TOTAL      35.314

27 This report has previously identified that £7.927 million of savings have been 
identified for 2019/20 leaving a shortfall of £0.918 million in 2019/20. In 
addition, however, MTFP(8) approved a range of savings for 2020/21. These 
savings originally amounted to £1.383 million. The viability of achieving these 
savings has been reviewed with the outcome being that there is confidence 
that these savings will be achieved.

28 The Transformation Programme has been considering a range of options to 
improve service provision, identify efficiencies, reduce costs and also increase 
income. Savings of this nature will ensure the Council is able to protect front 
line services. In addition to the Transformation Programme savings of     
£4.25 million included in 2019/20 plans, a range of further savings have been 
identified for 2020/21 and 2021/22. Details of these savings are included in 
Appendix 2 with the sums available detailed below:

£m
2020/21 3.8
2021/22 0.8
TOTAL 4.6

29 A review of Council Business Support functions across the next couple of 
years is expected to generate a 2020/21 saving of £3.1 million which 
subsumes the £0.155 million CYPS business support saving previously 
referenced in this report. 

30 In addition to savings identified from the Transformation Programme it is 
expected that the Council will realise a £0.275 million saving in 2022/23 when 

Page 24



the new Council HQ is fully up and running. This forecast saving was reported 
to Cabinet previously as part of the HQ report. 

31 The savings total included in Appendix 2 of £14.245 million across the 
MTFP(9) period reduces the savings shortfall to £21.129 million as detailed 
below.

      Savings      Savings        Savings
     Required      Identified        Shortfall

£m £m £m
2019/20     8.805        (7.927)          0.918
2020/21   12.372        (5.183)          7.189
2021/22     7.447        (0.800)          6.647
2022/23     6.650        (0.275)          6.375
TOTAL     35.314       (14.185)         21.129

32 The table above highlights that additional savings of £21.129 million will be 
required across MTFP(9) to balance the budget. This must also be considered 
alongside the considerable uncertainty facing local government at this time 
especially in relation to the outcome of the CSR, the Fair Funding review and 
the implementation of the next stage of BRR. The Transformation Programme 
will continue to review service provision with the key aim of reducing costs 
and increasing income wherever possible to ensure the Council can protect 
front line services.

33 It is more likely that savings plans in the future will become more complex and 
as such will require significant planning and consultation. It will be vital that 
timeframes for delivery are planned effectively to ensure the Council 
continues to balance the budget across the MTFP(9) period

34 The realisation of additional £35.3 million of savings will have resulted in the 
Council being required to save £259 million from 2011/12. The MTFP(9) 
Model is attached at Appendix 3.

MTFP(9) Timetable

35 A high level timetable up to Budget setting is detailed below:

Date Action

11 July

14 September

17 October

October/November

MTFP report to Cabinet

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
consider 11 July Cabinet Report

MTFP/Council Plan report to Cabinet

MTFP Consultation period

Page 25



Date Action

1 November

14 November

Early December

12 December

17 December

16 January

6 February

13 February

20 February

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
consider 17 October Cabinet Report

Tax Base/Collection Fund report to Cabinet

2019/20 Finance Settlement announced by DCLG

MTFP/Council Plan report to Cabinet – consultation 
outcomes

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
consider 12 December Cabinet Report

MTFP/Council Plan report to Cabinet – (if required)

Budget Report to Cabinet

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
consider 6 February Cabinet Report

Council Budget and MTFP report

Proposed Consultation Programme

36 In recent years the Council has carried out extensive consultation on its 
budget proposals. In the face of unprecedented budget reductions, these 
consultations have focussed primarily on seeking views on proposed changes 
to specific frontline services, as well as periodically requesting views on 
priority and non-priority services. Given that the majority of savings in this 
report have been previously agreed and consulted upon, it is proposed that 
consultation for 2019/20 is primarily targeted at informing partner agencies 
and the public of the proposed approach to achieving the total MTFP(9) 
savings requirement of £35.3 million of which £14.2 million of savings are 
detailed in this report. It is proposed that details of the approach will be 
outlined to the public through a series of presentations to the 14 Area Action 
Partnerships as well as providing an opportunity for comment on the Council’s 
website.

Workforce Implications 

37 The Council originally estimated 1,950 reductions to full time equivalent posts 
by the end of 2014/15.  By 31 March 2019, it is forecast that there will have 
been a reduction of 2,900 posts, of which 750 will have been via the deletion 
of vacant posts. It is forecast that the number of post reductions will increase 
over the coming years as savings plans are developed and agreed to achieve 
the MTFP(9) required saving of £35.3 million.

Page 26



38 The Council will continue to take all possible steps to avoid compulsory 
redundancies and minimise the impact upon the workforce.  This will require a 
continued focus on forward planning, careful monitoring of employee turnover, 
only undertaking recruitment where absolutely necessary and retaining vacant 
posts in anticipation of any required service changes, seeking volunteers for 
early retirement and/or voluntary redundancy and maximising redeployment 
opportunities for the workforce wherever possible.

39 In addition, the way that work is organised and jobs designed will continue to 
be reviewed by service groupings, with the support of Human Resources, to 
ensure that changes that are made to maximise the use of the workforce 
numbers and skills and introduce flexibility into the way work is organised to 
maximise the capacity of the remaining workforce.

40 These actions will ensure that, wherever possible, service reductions continue 
to be planned well in advance of commencing the exercises, employees are 
able to consider their personal positions and volunteer for ER/VR prior to the 
start of the exercise should they wish to, thereby enabling, in a number of 
situations, the retention of sustainable employment in the County for those 
who wish to remain in the workplace.

Equality Impact Assessment of the Medium Term Financial Plan

41 Consideration of equality analysis and impacts is an essential element that 
members must consider in approving the savings plans at Appendix 2 for 
consultation. This section updates Members on the outcomes of the equality 
analysis of the MTFP (9) savings proposals to date.

42 The aim of the equality analysis process is to:

(a) identify any disproportionate impact on service users or staff based on 
the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation;

(b) identify any mitigating actions which can be taken to reduce negative 
impact where possible;

(c) ensure that we avoid unlawful discrimination as a result of MTFP 
decisions;

(d) ensure the effective discharge of the public sector equality duty.

43 As in previous years, equality analysis is considered throughout the decision-
making process, alongside the development of MTFP(9). This is required to 
ensure MTFP process decisions are both fair and lawful. The process is in 
line with the Equality Act 2010 which, amongst other things, makes 
discrimination unlawful in relation to the protected characteristics listed above 
and requires us to make reasonable adjustments for disabled people.

Page 27



44 In addition, the public sector equality duty requires us to pay ‘due regard’ to 
the need to:

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited under the Act;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

45 Savings options presented at Appendix 2 have been subject to equality 
impact analysis where applicable. All proposals with equality implications 
have been subject to equality analysis in previous years as they all relate to a 
residual saving or continuation of a saving. 

46 A number of successful judicial reviews has reinforced the need for robust 
consideration of the public sector equality duty and the impact on protected 
characteristics in the decision making process. Members must take full 
account of the duty and accompanying evidence when considering the MTFP 
proposals.

47 Throughout the period of MTFP planning through to setting the MTFP(9) 
budget in February 2019, the equality analysis for all savings proposals will 
continue to be reviewed and updated with results of consultation and further 
information as it becomes available. Final equality analysis will be considered 
in decision-making processes. 

48 In terms of the ongoing programme of budget decisions the Council has taken 
steps to ensure that impact assessments:

(a) are built in at the formative stages so that they form an integral part of 
developing proposals with sufficient time for completion ahead of 
decision-making;

(b) are based on relevant evidence, including consultation where 
appropriate, to provide a robust assessment;

(c) objectively consider any negative impacts and alternatives or mitigation 
actions so that they support fair and lawful decision making;

(d) are closely linked to the wider MTFP decision-making process;

(e) build on previous assessments to provide an ongoing picture of 
cumulative impact;

Impact Assessments for 2019/20 Savings Proposals

Page 28



49 A total of nine savings proposals as listed at Appendix 4, have equality 
implications. These listed proposals include potential service user impacts 
across all protected characteristics, but, most commonly around age, sex and 
disability. Staffing reviews have potential impacts across all protected 
characteristics and fair treatment of staff will be ensured through applying 
agreed corporate HR change management procedures.

50 The remaining proposals have no equality implications and therefore do not 
require an equality impact assessment.

51 Key analysis from these impact assessments are summarised below and 
Members are asked to note this equality analysis and that detailed at 
Appendix 4 when considering the impact of savings proposed in this report.

Adult and Health Services (AHS)

52 Adult and Health Services savings proposals all reflect ongoing savings 
agreed in previous years. These include the ongoing reviews of direct 
provision of remaining in-house care and support services, adult social care 
charging and adult social work functions. 

53 At this stage, changes to be made to the operating models for in-house adult 
social care services are not anticipated to affect the level of service provided. 
Those eligible for support will continue to receive that support subject to 
ongoing annual review and consistent application of eligibility criteria. 

54 Ongoing savings continue to be made via changes to adult social care 
charging policy for new cases in respect of disability related expenditure 
disregards and minimum income guarantee thresholds. Assessment of new 
cases could lead to an adverse financial impact for some due to additional 
charging as a result of these policy changes. Full consultation was carried out 
prior to the introduction of both policy changes and no complaints have been 
received to date. Ongoing support is provided to service users where 
necessary as changes are implemented.

55 Service users affected by AHS proposals tend to be older and/or have a 
disability. In addition, a higher proportion of older service users are female 
and furthermore women are more likely to be affected in their role as primary 
carers. 

56 Other changes involve staffing reviews across a range of services. These 
reviews have potential impacts across all protected characteristics. Fair 
treatment of staff will be ensured through agreed corporate HR change 
management procedures.

Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS)

57 There is a small continuing saving in relation to the education review for 
Children’s and Young People Services where there is no service impact. Fair 

Page 29



treatment of affected staff will be ensured through agreed corporate HR 
change management procedures. 

Regeneration and Local Services (REAL)

58 The proposals in Regeneration and Local Services all reflect continuation 
savings agreed in previous years in relation to ongoing reviews of culture and 
sport, buildings and facilities management, garden waste charging and 
environmental health and consumer protection. 

59 The ongoing review in culture and sport involves changes to development 
services in sport and the arts, with further operational reductions across the 
service. The nature of service delivery in this area mainly involves targeted 
interventions. Whilst this saving may result in fewer new programmes being 
introduced, it is unlikely to affect existing users. There are potential impacts in 
terms of reduced access to targeted interventions for future users which are 
more likely to affect gender, and or age disability related characteristics.

60 Ongoing savings are being made from an increase in charging for garden 
waste as previously agreed at MTFP(8).  To help mitigate the impact there is 
the option of a discounted multi-year deal and households have been 
reminded that they can share garden waste bins with neighbours to cut costs. 
There is also a small increase in charges for bulky waste collection. These 
changes are likely to have a greater impact on older or disabled residents who 
may have limited means to access alternative ways of disposing of their 
garden or bulky waste. Changes mitigated, in part, by the introduction of a 
points system which means customers can mix smaller and larger bulky items 
in a single collection which may make some collections cheaper, where the 
number of items is low.

61 The ongoing review of buildings and facilities maintenance does not have a 
negative impact on service users, with a minimal impact upon staff. 

62 Environmental health and consumer protection proposals are likely to have 
both a staff and service provision impact and further information will be made 
available as the proposal develops. 

Resources (RES), Corporate (COR), Transformation and Partnerships (T&P)

63 Resources and Transformation and Partnerships have achieved all savings 
targets set as part of the MTFP process. Savings in these service groupings 
are accelerated wherever possible to protect front line services. Proposed 
Corporate savings have no equality implications and therefore do not require 
equality analysis.

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 

64 The government abolished the national Council Tax Benefits System on 31 
March 2013, replacing it with a requirement for local authorities to work with 
their precepting bodies to establish a Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Page 30



(LCTRS) with effect from 1 April 2013.  The LCTRS provides a ‘discount’ 
against the Council Tax charge, rather than a benefit entitlement.

65 The Council Tax Reduction Scheme Grant replaced Council Tax Benefit 
subsidy and from April 2013 is paid directly to the Council and the major 
precepting bodies (Police and Fire).  

66 Government funding towards Council Tax support was reduced by 10 per cent 
nationally in 2013/14.  By so doing, the government also transferred the risk of 
any growth in the system through more council taxpayers becoming eligible 
for support with their council Tax to local authorities as the government grant 
was a fixed amount.  

67 The funding made available to support the Local Council Tax Support 
Schemes in 2013/14 (90% of the previous funding available under the Council 
Tax Benefit System) now forms part of the Council’s formula funding 
arrangements. Whilst separate figures were published for this in 2013/14, 
there is no longer any visibility over what level of funding is actually contained 
within the formula now for Council Tax Reduction Schemes. 

68 The Council’s formula grant includes an element relating to Town and Parish 
Councils and whilst the Council passed the grant on to the Town and Parish 
Councils in the last three years, there is no statutory requirement to do so. 

69 Following discussions with the Town and Parish Councils’ Working Group, 
and in the spirit of partnership working, recognising the important role Town 
and Parish Councils play in providing local services to communities, it is 
proposed to continue to pass on the Town and Parish element of the formula 
grant in 2019/20. In doing so, it is proposed that the Council continues to 
apply pro-rata reductions in the Council Tax Support Grant paid to Town and 
Parish Councils in 2019/20 in line with reductions in the overall formula 
funding made available to the Council and this is reflected in the updated 
MTFP model. 

70 Local Council Tax Support Grant payments to Town and Parish Councils is 
forecast to be £1.308 million in 2019/20, which is around a £93,000 reduction 
on the amount paid in 2018/19.

71 In the North East region, Durham and Northumberland have schemes that 
continue to mirror entitlement under the former Council Tax Benefit (CTB) 
system, whilst the other 10 councils have schemes that cap the maximum 
entitlement to working age claimants. The table below summarises the key 
features of the schemes in place across the North East in 2018/19 and how 
their in-year Council Tax collection rates have changed between 2012/13 and 
2016/17 (which is the latest published data available):

Local 
Authority

Basis of 
Scheme

Minimum 
Payment

Second 
Adult 

Reduction 
Offered?

Change in in-year 
council tax collection 
rate between 2012-13 

and 2016-17
Durham CTB No Yes +1.80%points

Page 31



Local 
Authority

Basis of 
Scheme

Minimum 
Payment

Second 
Adult 

Reduction 
Offered?

Change in in-year 
council tax collection 
rate between 2012-13 

and 2016-17
Darlington CTB 20% No -0.30%points
Gateshead CTB 8.5% No -0.70%points
Hartlepool CTB 12% No -1.30%points

Middlesbrough CTB 15% No -3.20%points
Newcastle Income Banded 10% No -0.20%points

North Tyneside CTB 15% No -0.70%points
Northumberland CTB No Yes +0.30%points

South Tyneside CTB
30% or 
15% if 

vulnerable
Yes -1.50%points

Stockton CTB 20% No -2.40%points
Sunderland CTB 8.5% Yes -1.30%points

72 In 2017/18, Durham was one of just 37 authorities nationally which continue to 
mirror entitlement under the former Council Tax Benefit system (11%), with 
277 out of 326 (89%) having cut the amount of support available to claimants. 
The latest published data available shows the most common change 
implemented elsewhere have been the introduction of a minimum payment 
level and reducing or removing the Second Adult Reduction.  The chart below 
shows the most common types of changes / restrictions implemented to 
schemes across the country:

73 In some local authorities, like Durham, low-income households continue to be 
exempt from paying Council Tax whilst in other local authorities they are 
required pay up to 50% of their bill regardless of their financial circumstances. 
There is therefore a wide disparity of support available across the country. 

Page 32



74 In 2017/18, around two million families across the country were being 
adversely affected by the change from Council Tax Benefit. On average these 
families were paying £191 additional Council Tax in 2017/18 in comparison 
with what they would have paid under the national CTB scheme. The number 
of LCTRS claimants paying £200 or more had increased to 825,000 in 
2017/18.

75 There are currently 58,300 LCTRS claimants in County Durham, of which 
24,350 (42%) are pensioners and 33,950 (58%) are working age claimants,  
with 21,075 working age claimants on ‘pass ported’ benefits i.e. also in receipt 
of either Job Seekers Allowance, Employment Support Allowance or Income 
Support.  27,071 (79.77%) of all claimants currently receive 100% LCTRS 
discount, with LCTRS support forecast to be approximately £54.5 million in 
2018/19.

76 Despite a steadily falling caseload in Durham over recent years, in cash terms 
the annual total amount of LCTRS awards has remained broadly static:

77 The LCTRS caseload in Durham has reduced by 8.76% between 2013/14 and 
2017/18, reflecting a national trend which is in part attributed to improved 
economic conditions (reduced unemployment) across this period and the 
increase in the state pension age.  The reduction in LCTRS caseloads 
nationally has been 16.49% over the same period, which will reflect the fact 
that many local authorities have made their schemes less accessible, 
meaning fewer applicants now qualify for support.

78 In Durham, there are now over 4,000 claimants currently classed as working 
age that would have been treated as pensionable age claimants prior to 2010, 
when the process of moving state pension credit age from 60 to 66 began.  
This process is expected to be completed in 2020 with a further move up to 
67 between 2026 and 2028, then to 68 between 2044 and 2046.  As the chart 
below shows, over the last five years there has been a four percentage point 
increase in the proportion of working age applicants within Durham:

Page 33



79 This means a higher proportion of our caseload is coming under the part of 
the LCTRS scheme that the Council has control over. Working age customers 
also carry a greater administrative burden as they have more frequent 
changes in their circumstances.

80 As Members will be aware, if any changes are made to the scheme, these 
must be consulted on and be subject to an equality impact assessment. 
Councils are required to review and approve their schemes annually and have 
this agreed by a Council Meeting before 11 March each year (previously it 
was 31 January, but has recently been changed).

81 Pensioners, have to be protected from any changes, with any reductions 
applied to working age claimants only. 

82 Six years after the government abolished the national Council Tax Benefits 
System the Council continues to have a Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
which mirrors the previous entitlement under the Council Tax Benefit System 
for all claimants. No LCTRS claimants have therefore been financially worse 
off in the last six years (including the current year) than they would have been 
under the previous national scheme.

83 The Council has been mindful of the continuing impacts of the wider welfare 
reforms which are having a detrimental impact on many low income 
households and the fact that the additional Council Tax liabilities for working 
age households could have a significant impact on affected household 
budgets by around £100 to £130 a year based on a scheme whereby 
entitlement for working age claimants is set at a maximum of 90% entitlement. 
This would make collection of council tax more difficult and costly to recover 
from these low income households.

Page 34



84 To give a national context, in August 2017 the National Policy Institute 
published a review in to the impact of LCTRS on Council Tax recovery rates, 
which concluded that councils with higher minimum payments generally 
continued to have higher overall arrears than in 2012/13 and that:

This could be seen as evidence that some councils have raised taxes 
beyond sustainable levels for low-income households. Minimum 
payments that are set too high may result in an increase in uncollected 
taxes and increasing administration and court costs (for both the 
claimants and the local authority) as councils seek to recover the taxes.

85 The same report contained the chart below, illustrating that those authorities 
with higher minimum payment levels were more likely to see an increase in 
uncollected council tax:

Proportion of Local Authorities that have seen an increase in 
uncollected tax in 2016/17 compared with 2012/13

86 In approving the scheme for 2018/19, the Council (1 November 2017) gave a 
commitment to review the scheme on the grounds of MTFP affordability and 
on-going austerity causing further MTFP pressures.

Page 35



87 Based on tax base assumptions, the estimated net cost of retaining the 
scheme in 2018/19 is around £5.1 million – this reflects the reduction in 
Government Grant support towards maintaining these schemes in the first 
year. To recover the full £5.1 million cost by reducing the benefit awarded to 
working age claimants, which currently totals around £31.5 million, and 
factoring in a prudent collection rate of 80%, would require us to reduce the 
maximum entitlement from 100% to 79.8%.

88 Should the Council review its scheme and reduce maximum entitlement to 
working age claimants, depending on the forecasted Council Tax collection 
from affected low income households, there would be scope to increase 
Council Tax revenues by between £2.52 million (based on a scheme that 
awarded maximum entitlement to working age households of 90% with a 
prudent collection rate of 80%) and £5.1 million (based on a scheme that 
awarded maximum entitlement of 79.8% with a prudent collection rate of 
80%).  This would impact around 33,950 working age households across 
County Durham, where 7,088 (21%) are actually in low paid jobs rather than 
being unemployed.

89 Following careful consideration of the current financial position of the Council 
and in light of  further cuts to the Welfare Budget planned by government, 
including the continued roll out of Universal Credit Full Service, which 
commenced in October 2017 in County Durham; it is proposed that Cabinet 
recommend to Council that the current scheme should be extended for a 
further year into 2019/20 and, therefore, that no additional Council Tax 
revenues or pressures are built into the MTFP projections from a review of the 
LCTRS at this stage.

90 The reasons for extending the current scheme are due to the current scheme 
remaining within existing cost parameters for the Council. In addition, whilst 
the full impacts of the government’s Welfare Reforms are complex and difficult 
to track, demand for Discretionary Housing Payments, Social Fund 
Applications and Rent Arrears statistics in County Durham compared to 
others across the region, would suggest that the Council Tax benefit 
protection afforded to working age claimants, in addition to the wide ranging 
proactive support that has been put in place, is continuing to have a positive 
impact on these households.

91 The Council will need to continue to review the national situation and track 
what is happening in local authorities that have reduced LCTRS entitlement to 
their working age claimants in terms of impacts and performance in terms of 
recovery of the Council Tax due. 

92 The Council will also need to keep track of the impact of the roll out of 
Universal Credit (UC). This presents new challenges for the administration of 
LCTRS as it results in a much higher number of changes in circumstances 
(experience is that the UC earned income element changes frequently as the 
person moves through the claimant commitment with their Work Coach) and 
removes the administrative economies of scale currently achieved by 
administering Housing Benefit and LCTRS claims side by side.  

Page 36



93 More significantly however, UC changes results in multiple reworking and 
changes to LCTRS entitlement throughout the year and multiple bills being 
issued to individual households resulting in numerous changes to their net 
liability and instalment plans for any Council Tax balance they are responsible 
for. In areas where UC Full Service has been fully rolled out and has been in 
place for some time there has been reports of significant reductions in in-year 
recovery rates in 2017/18 as a consequence, though the data is not yet 
available to examine in detail. 

94 To counter this local authorities are increasingly looking to introduce banded 
schemes, though many have a cap on the maximum amount of support that 
can be gained. Officers will be modelling options in terms of a banded scheme 
for consideration for 2020/21, whereby a banded scheme for UC claimants 
could run alongside the existing scheme for non-UC claimants, with no 
restriction on the maximum support that can be claimed. The existing scheme 
needs to be maintained for pensioners in any event.

Review of the Council Tax Discretionary Discounts (Hardship Relief) Policy

95 The Local Government Finance Act 1992 section 13a makes the provision for 
Billing Authorities to reduce the amount of tax payable by awarding a 
discretionary relief of Council Tax in exceptional circumstances, including 
hardship.

96 In July 2017, Cabinet considered the outcome of a comprehensive review of 
the Council Tax Discretionary Reduction (Hardship Relief) Policy, which had 
been updated in April 2013 following the introduction of the Local Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes, but not reviewed since that date.

97 The policy was amended in July 2017 as follows:

(a) inclusion of a better explanation of the legislation covering hardship 
awards, i.e. section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992;

(b) clarity over the process i.e. that all other reasonable steps should be 
taken first and how an application for Hardship Relief should be a last 
resort;

(c) clarity over the fact that awards for Hardship Relief would normally be 
for temporary, short and fixed periods;

(d) clarity over the evidence required to substantiate a claim for Hardship 
Relief and how the Council will meet the costs associated with the 
award;

(e) clarity over the decision making process for assessing claims received 
and the process for reviewing decisions and the rights of appeal;

(f) detail on how fraudulent or misleading applications will be treated;

Page 37



(g) a revised and updated application form.

98 The updated policy reflecting the above changes is available on the Council’s 
website (www.durham.gov.uk/counciltax). 

99 In approving the updated Policy, Cabinet agreed that in the future a review of 
the Council Tax Discretionary Reduction (Hardship Relief) Policy would be 
undertaken on an annual basis and aligned to the review of the Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme.

100 The number of applications submitted under this policy continues to be low 
with only 152 from April 2013 to the end of March 2018, with only four 
applications being successful. Of the four that were successful, three of these 
were within the last financial year and were applicants who could no longer 
occupy their rented properties due to fire damage. However, it should be 
noted that customers claiming hardship are often unaware or unfamiliar with 
the Council’s LCTRS.  In the majority of cases customers are directed 
towards the LCTRS and asked to submit a claim under that route first and 
many are subsequently successful in securing support that way.

101 The policy, as updated in July 2017, is considered to be fit for purpose and 
reflects customer needs with only nominal changes proposed at this stage.  
The Policy has however been amended to state that applications are not 
accepted from organisations who take payment or commission in respect of 
Hardship applications.  

102 Citizens Advice County Durham have been consulted as part of the annual 
review of this policy and have provided positive feedback on the Council’s 
existing policy and approach. They did however make comment that they felt 
the Hardship Relief should not be limited to a specific financial year, as 
outstanding debt could span more than one financial year. 

103 They also suggested that applicants could be encouraged to seek 
independent financial advice prior to making an application, via Citizens 
Advice, who are able to provide this service free of charge and that their 
contact details should be included in the updated policy.

104 Both these suggested amendments have been included in the updated Policy, 
which is attached at Appendix 5.  In addition, the application form has been 
updated to include other welfare benefits, i.e. Universal Credit, and makes 
provision for the customer or third party applicant to provide further relevant 
information. 

Council Tax Discretionary Discounts – Council Tax Exemption for Care 
Leavers

105 The government’s publication Keep on Caring, Supporting Young People from 
Care to Independence (July 2016), identified five key outcomes for care 
leavers. One of these was to support care leavers to achieve financial 

Page 38

http://www.durham.gov.uk/counciltax


stability. Councils were encouraged to consider exempting care leavers from 
Council Tax using existing discretionary powers. 

106 The Children’s Society supported this view and made calls for councils to 
exempt care leavers from paying Council Tax up to the age of 25 and in 
August 2016, the Communities and Local Government Select Committee 
recommended that care leavers be exempted from Council Tax up to at least 
age 21.

107 In response to this agenda, in July 2017, following a period of consultation, 
Cabinet approved the introduction of a Council Tax Discretionary Reduction 
(Relief) For Care Leavers Policy, which exempted care leavers living in 
County Durham from Council Tax up to the age of 25 and provided a 50% 
discount to the liable person where the care leaver was residing with an 
extended family member (or another adult) who had previously lived on their 
own and received a single person discount. The policy was effective from 1 
April 2017.  

108 In approving the policy, Members agreed that it would be reviewed on an 
annual basis alongside the review of the LCTRS Scheme and Council Tax 
Discretionary Reduction (Hardship Relief) Policy. 

109 Initial modelling to inform the policy introduced last year suggested that each 
day there re would be on average 53 care leavers with a liability for Council 
Tax living in County Durham, with the Council Tax charges for these being 
around £51,000 per annum. 

110 It was also estimated that each day there would be a further 17 care leavers 
living with an extended family member (or another adult) who had previously 
lived on their own and received a single person discount. The policy 
introduced last year provided for a 50% discount to be applied where  a care 
leaver was residing with an extended family member (or another adult) who 
had previously lived on their own and received a single person discount, at an 
estimated cost of £10,600 per annum. 

111 In 2017/18 there were 147 separate awards to Care Leavers under the new 
policy, with £67,009 of Council Tax exemptions applied to these accounts. In 
the current year, 116 awards have been made to Care Leavers, with 
exemptions applied totalling £87,575. The following table provides a 
breakdown of the Care Leavers exemptions applied last year and in the 
current year (position to 31 May 2018):

2017/18 2018/19
No. 

Awards
Value (£) No. 

Awards
Value (£)

100% Care Leavers 
Exemption 80 42,263.08 60 52,470.61

50% Care Leavers 
Exemption 67 24,746.29 56 35,104.19

TOTAL 147 67,009.37 116 87,574.80

Page 39



112 The policy is widely communicated and promoted via the Leaving Care 
Teams in Children and Young People’s Services. It has been well received 
and is providing much needed support to families and young people to help 
them become independent.  It is helping care leavers become financially 
independent, breaking down some of the barriers that may prevent them from 
progressing into opportunities, including opportunities to break away from the 
‘benefits trap’ where starting an apprenticeship or other form of employment 
may leave them at a financial disadvantage.

113 It must be noted that without examining in detail the individual circumstances 
of each care leaver who has been supported, it is not possible to accurately 
determine the total net impact and costs of the policy to exempt care leavers 
living in County Durham. Whist the overall forecast cost was originally 
estimated to be around £62,000 (actual support was £67,009), the application 
of single person discount, LCTRS and other exemptions meant that the net 
costs were originally forecast to be around £24,000. Applying these 
proportions would suggest a total net costs of around £26,000 in 2017/18.

114 A number of councils in the region are actively considering proposals to 
exempt care leavers living in their area from Council Tax and officers have 
received several requests for copies of the Council’s policy and had 
conversations with colleagues from other areas also.  

115 No changes to the Council Tax Discretionary Reduction (Relief) For Care 
Leavers Policy / Application Form and process are proposed at this time. A 
copy of the policy is attached at Appendix 6. 

116 The policy will continue to be reviewed on an annual basis alongside the 
review of the LCTRS Scheme and Council Tax Discretionary Reduction 
(Hardship Relief) Policy, to ensure that it continues to be fit for purpose and 
reflects customer needs. 

Discretionary Rate Relief - Review of Local Discretionary Rate Relief Policy

117 The government announced in the Spring Budget in March 2017 the 
establishment of a £300 million discretionary fund over four years from 
2017/18 to support those businesses that face the steepest increases in their 
business rates bills because of the 2017 revaluation.

118 Every billing authority in the country was provided with a proportion of the 
£300 million to support their local businesses and were expected to use their 
share of the funding to develop their own discretionary relief schemes to 
deliver targeted support to the most hard-pressed ratepayers.

119 The gross funding made available to County Durham to fund the new 
discretionary relief scheme in 2017/18 was £663,000, reducing to £322,000 in 
2018/19; £133,000 in 2019/20; and £19,000 in 2020/21. Funding cannot be 
carried over between financial years. Any underspending against the grant 
funding provided in each year must be returned to government.

Page 40



120 The initial local policy was approved by Cabinet in July 2017 and incorporated 
into the Council’s Discretionary Rates Relief and Business Rates Hardship 
Relief Policy, which was also updated at that time. The Local Discretionary 
Rates Relief Policy was reviewed and updated in January 2018, with the 
amended policy being agreed by Cabinet in February 2018.  To be eligible for 
this relief under the Council’s approved local policy, businesses need to meet 
the following criteria:

(a) have a rateable value of less than £200,000 (i.e. is classed as a small 
or medium sized businesses);

(b) have had an increase in rateable value following the 2017 revaluation;

(c) the ratepayer has a continuing liability i.e. was liable for business 
rates on 31/03/17 and continues to remain liable for business rates (to 
ensure the support is targeted to those small and medium sized 
businesses adversely impacted by the business rates revaluation); 

(d) as a result of the above the rate payer has seen a net increase of over 
£600 in their rates bill in 2017/18.

121 Due to the dynamics of the rating list, i.e. changes in rateable values due to 
alterations and appeals, ratepayers vacating premises in February 2018, 
Cabinet gave delegated authority to the Corporate Director, Resources, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance, to vary the percentage 
awards to small businesses retrospectively should we need to in order to 
maximise spend against the available grant in year and to vary the rates 
applied to new applications should the need arise.

122 The government had written to all local authorities with regard to the 
measures set out in the Spring Budget encouraging them to grant the relief to 
those meeting the relevant eligibility criteria as any underspent monies will be 
returned to central government following the close of the 2017/18 financial 
year.

123 On 11 March 2018 the Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Finance exercised his delegated powers and 
changed the percentage discounts awarded to properties that continue to 
meet the policy criteria set out above to the following levels:

(a) 2017/18 - 66% of the increase above £600;

(b) 2018/19 - 27% of the increase above £600;

(c) 2019/20 - 15% of the increase above £600;

(d) 2021/22 - 5% of the increase above £600.

124 The updated policy reflecting the above changes is available on the Council’s 
website (www.durham.gov.uk/businessrates). 

Page 41

http://www.durham.gov.uk/businessrates


125 The policy includes the changes and updates agreed by Cabinet in February 
2018, which incorporated the Autumn Budget 2017 announcements relating to 
the extension of the £1,000 discount for public houses into 2018/19, whereby 
eligible pubs with a rateable value of below £100,000 continue to receive up 
to a £1,000 discount on their rates bill.  In 2017/18 there were 224 pubs 
eligible for this support in County Durham, receiving £171,418 in discounts 
against their rates liabilities. In the current year, 51 pubs have been eligible for 
this support to date, with £164,330 of discounts having been awarded in 
2018/19 (as at 4 June 2018).

126 The changes to the Local Discretionary Rates Relief Policy implemented in 
March 2018 ensured that the full grant provided was fully expended and 
allocated to local businesses in 2017/18 and that the Council was not in the 
position of returning any funds allocated back to central government. The 
2017/18 outturn on these discounts was £670,579 against grant funding 
provided of £663,000, with 517 local businesses receiving this support. In 
2018/19 the discounts applied under this policy total £346,758 (as at 4 June 
2018), against the grant funding of £321,808, with 457 businesses currently 
receiving this support. The scheme is being kept under review to ensure that 
the full amount of government funding provided is expended each year.

127 Members will recall that the government introduced a national scheme of 
support for small businesses losing Small Business Rate Relief or Rural Rate 
Relief as a result of the revaluation in April 2017. Unhelpfully, this scheme 
was introduced by government after annual billing for 2017/18. The scheme 
limits increases in bills to the greater of £600 or the real terms transitional 
relief cap for small businesses each year where they had lost Small Business 
Rate Relief or Rural Rate Relief as a result of the revaluation. 

128 In 2017/18 there were 61 local businesses eligible for this support in County 
Durham, receiving £85,215 in discounts against their rates liabilities. In the 
current year, 51 businesses have been eligible for this support to date, with 
£75,423 of discounts having been awarded to date (as at 4 June 2018).

Recommendations and Reasons

129 Cabinet is asked to:

(a) note the requirement to identify additional savings of £35.3 million for 
the period 2019/20 to 2022/23;

(b) note the £14.185 million of prospective savings detailed in Appendix 2 
to support MTFP(9);

(c) note that the £7.927 million of savings included for 2019/20 if agreed 
would result in a £0.918 million savings shortfall for 2019/20;

(d) agree the high level MTFP(9) timetable;

(e) agree the approach outlined for consultation;

Page 42



(f) note the workforce impact resulting from the need to realise additional 
savings of £35.3 million over the 2019/20 to 2022/23 period;

(g) agree the proposals to build equalities considerations into decision 
making;

(h) agree that Cabinet recommend to Full Council that the Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme should remain unchanged for 2019/20;

(i) note the review of Council Tax Discretionary Reduction (Hardship 
Relief) Policy as attached at Appendix 5, and agree the updates to the 
Policy as outlined in the report;

(j) note the review of the Council Tax Discretionary Reduction (Relief) For 
Care Leavers Policy, as attached at Appendix 6 and agree that the 
policy remain unchanged;

(k) note the changes to the Local Discretionary Rate Relief scheme, made 
under a delegated decision in line with delegations agreed by Cabinet 
in February 2018, which ensured that the full amount of Government 
funding for such schemes was awarded to local businesses in 2017/18 
and again in 2018/19;

(l) note that the Discretionary Rate Relief scheme will continue to be 
monitored and reviewed, with delegated approval continuing for the 
Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance, to vary the percentage awards to small 
businesses retrospectively should we need to in order to maximise 
spend against the available grant in year and to vary the rates applied 
to new applications should the need arise. 

Background Documents 

 Welfare Reform Act 2012.

 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19 – report to Council 1 
November 2017.

 Changes to Council Tax Support in 2017/18 – Report of the New Policy 
Institute (commissioned by Joseph Rowntree Foundation) April 2017.

 Are Cuts to Council tax Support False Economy – Report of the New Policy 
Institute August 2017.

Contact: Jeff Garfoot (03000 261946)  Paul Darby (03000 261930)
Jenny Haworth (03000 268071) Gordon Elliott (03000 263603)

Page 43



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – The report highlights that at this stage £8.8 million of savings are required 
to balance the 2019/20 budget with £35.3 million across the next four years. Work 
will continue over the coming months to identify savings to balance the budget 
across the MTFP(9) period.  

The funding made available to support the Local Council Tax Reduction Schemes in 
2013/14 (90% of the previous funding available under the Council Tax Benefit 
System) now forms part of the Council’s formula funding arrangements. 

The Council has continued to pass on the Town and Parish element of its formula 
grant over the last five years but in doing so continue to apply pro-rata reductions in 
the Council Tax Support Grant paid to Town and Parish Councils. Local Council Tax 
Support Grant payments to Town and Parish Councils is forecast to be £1.308 
million in 2019/20, a circa £93,000 reduction on the amount paid in 2018/19.

The Council is now responsible for the costs of any increase in caseload as the level 
of Government support is fixed within formula grant.   

Prudent estimates and provisions were built into the tax base forecasts at budget 
setting, and whilst the Council is subject to greater financial risk now, the current 
scheme remains within the budget provisions.
Should the Council review its scheme and reduce maximum entitlement to working 
age claimants, depending on the forecasted council tax collection from affected low 
income households, there would be scope to increase Council Tax revenues by 
between £2.52million (based on a scheme that awarded maximum entitlement to 
working age households of 90% with a prudent collection rate of 80%) and 
£5.1million (based on a scheme that awarded maximum entitlement of 79.8% with a 
prudent collection rate of 80%).  This would impact circa 33,950 working age 
households across County Durham, where 7,088 (21%) are actually in low paid jobs 
rather than being unemployed.

There has only been 152 applications submitted under the provisions of the Council 
Tax Discretionary Reduction (Hardship Relief) Policy and only 4 award made since 
April 2013.  Whilst the number of applications would appear to be low, it should be 
noted that customers claiming hardship they are often unaware or unfamiliar with the 
Council’s LCTRS.  In the majority of cases customers are directed towards the 
LCTRS and asked to submit a claim under that route first.

In 2017/18 there was 147 separate awards to Care Leavers under the new Policy, 
with £67,009 of Council Tax exemptions applied to these accounts. In current year 
116 awards have been made to Care Leavers, with exemptions applied totalling 
£87,575. 

Without examining in detail the individual circumstances of each care leaver who has 
been supported, it is not possible to accurately determine the total net impact and 
costs of the policy to exempt care leavers living in County Durham. Whist the overall 
forecast cost was originally estimated to be circa £62,000 (actual support was 

Page 44



£67,009 in 2017/18 and is currently £87,575 in 2018/19), the application of single 
person discount, LCTRS and other exemptions meant that the net costs were 
originally forecast to be circa £24,000. Applying these proportions would suggest a 
total net costs of circa £26,000 in 2017/18.

The Government announced in the Spring Budget in March 2017 the establishment 
of a £300 million discretionary fund over four years from 2017/18 to support those 
businesses that face the steepest increases in their business rates bills because of 
the 2017 revaluation. Every billing authority in England was provided with a share of 
the £300 million to support their local businesses.  

The gross funding made available to County Durham to fund the new discretionary 
relief scheme in 2017/18 is £663,000, reducing to £322,000 in 2018/19; £133,000 in 
2019/20; and £19,000 in 2020/21. The 2017/18 outturn for these discounts was 
£670,579 and in 2018/19 the discounts applied as at 4 June 2018 total £346,758 in 
the current year. The scheme is being kept under review to ensure that the full 
amount of government funding provided is expended each year

The sum total of discounts applied under the £600 cap on rates bills for those losing 
Small Business Rate Relief / Rural Rate Relief as a result of the revaluation and the 
£1,000 relief for public houses with a rateable value up to £100,000 in County 
Durham was £256,633 in 2017/18 and is currently £239,753 in 2018/19. The Council 
is fully compensated, by way of s31 grant, for the loss of business rates income 
arising from these measures. 

Staffing – The savings proposals in MTFP(9) will impact upon employees.  HR 
processes will be followed at all times.  It is now expected that the forecast reduction 
in full time equivalent posts in the 2011/12 to 2018/19 period will be 2,900 with more 
reductions expected over the next four years. In terms of the reviews of Council Tax 
Discounts and Business Rates Hardship Relief Policies, there are no additional 
implications associated with this report. Processing applications under both policies 
is managed from within existing resources within the Assessments and Awards 
Team within Financial and Support Services, Resources

Risk – The report outlines a range of financial risks surrounding the Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme. These are being effectively managed at this time. Given that 
the proposal is to extend the current arrangements into 2019/20 there are no system 
development issues or risk associated with these proposals as the systems were 
amended in advance of 2013/14. 

The Council will need to keep track of the impact of the roll out of Universal Credit 
(UC). This presents new challenges for the administration of LCTRS as it results in a 
much higher number of changes in circumstances (experience is that the UC earned 
income element changes frequently as the person moves through the claimant 
commitment with their Work Coach) and removes the administrative economies of 
scale currently achieved by administering Housing Benefit and LCTRS claims side 
by side.  

Page 45



More significantly however, UC changes results in multiple reworking and changes to 
LCTRS entitlement throughout the year and multiple bills being issued to individual 
households resulting in numerous changes to their net liability and instalment plans 
for any Council Tax balance they are responsible for. In areas where UC Full Service 
has been fully rolled out and has been in place for some time there has been reports 
of significant reductions in in-year recovery rates in 2017/18 as a consequence, 
though the data is not yet available to examine in detail. 

To counter this local authorities are increasingly looking to introduce banded 
schemes, though many have a cap on the maximum amount of support that can be 
gained. Officers will be modelling options in terms of a banded scheme for 
consideration for 2020/21, whereby a banded scheme for UC claimants could run 
alongside the existing scheme for non-UC claimants, with no restriction on the 
maximum support that can be claimed. The existing scheme needs to be maintained 
for pensioners in any event.

There is a risk that applications under the Council Tax Discretionary Reduction 
(Hardship Relief) Policy will increase in the coming years as Welfare Reforms 
continue to impact households.

Furthermore, although appeals to the Valuation Tribunal remain rare there is a 
potential that they may increase and re-determinations may result in decisions being 
overturned.

The award of a Council Tax exemption to Care Leavers where 100% LCTRS support 
is not being awarded reduces the Tax base. There is a risk that applications under 
the Council Tax Discretionary Reduction (Relief) For Care Leavers Policy exceed 
modelling / MTFP assumptions. This risk is considered manageable within the 
existing projections, but will need careful monitoring going forward.

The proposals set out in this report seek to ensure that the Councils Policy is in line 
with legislative requirements and announcements made in the March 2017 Budget. 
There is a risk that applications received / awards made under the Discretionary 
Rate Relief and Hardship Relief Policies would not be in line with modelling 
assumptions. 

The financial implications arising from the application of the Policy will be monitored 
and reviewed, with increases to the awards to small businesses retrospectively 
applied should we need to in order to maximise spend against the available grant in 
year. This risk is considered manageable within the existing projections, but will need 
careful monitoring going forward.

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty – Equality considerations are 
built into the proposed approach to developing MTFP(9), as detailed in the body of 
this report. Appendix 4 summarises the impact of continuing savings proposals 
where there are equality implications.
Six years after the Government abolished the national Council Tax Benefits System 
the Council continues to have a Local Council Tax Support Scheme which mirrors 
the previous entitlement under the Council Tax Benefit System for all claimants. No 

Page 46



council tax benefit claimants have therefore been financially worse off in the last four 
years than they would have been under the previous national scheme and if the 
proposals set out in this report and ultimately agreed by Council in the autumn this 
will continue to be the case.
The Government EIA on the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme was published in 
January 2012 and is relatively brief. It considered equality impacts in relation to age 
and disability, concluding that protection for pensioners would be a positive impact 
and the effects on disabled people would depend on how each local authority 
responded to the reduction in council tax support. No impacts were identified in 
relation to gender or ethnicity and no other protected characteristics were considered 
and it was left to individual councils to identify full local impacts, based on local 
implementation.

Given the proposals to extend the current LCTRS into 2019/20, thereby continuing to 
protect current entitlement, then there will be no negative equalities impact, with the 
financial position of claimants protected in 2019/20.

Should the Council decide against extending the current scheme into 2019/20, and 
elect instead to pass on reductions to working age claimants, there would be a range 
of potential negative equalities impacts. These include financial impact for working 
age claimants and possible additional impacts in relation to health and wellbeing, 
housing and the consequences of debt or legal action.  These impacts are most 
likely in relation to gender, age and disability with limited impacts for race and sexual 
orientation and no evidence of impact on transgender status, religion or belief

Council Tax Discretionary Reduction (Hardship Relief) and the Council Tax 
Discretionary Reduction (Relief) For Care Leavers Policies as appended to this 
report – The proposal is to retain the existing policy provision, as updated and 
agreed by Cabinet in July 2017. Positive impacts were identified for care leavers with 
particular beneficial impact in relation to age (younger), gender (proportionately more 
males) and pregnancy and maternity. No negative impact was identified and the 
published equality impact assessment (July 2017) remains unchanged. 

Local Discretionary Rates Relief Policy – The report merely sets out details of the 
delegated decisions taken by the Corporate Director, Resources in consultation with 
the Cabinet member for Finance to vary the percentage support given to local 
businesses meeting the Councils policy criteria, which ensured that the full amount 
of Government funding for such schemes was awarded to local businesses in 
2017/18 and again in 2018/19. An equality impact assessment was published in 
respect of this policy in July 2017 and impact was neutral.  

Accommodation – None specific within this report.

Crime and Disorder – Any reduction in Council Tax support, alongside other 
welfare changes could see an increase in crime if customers seek to increase their 
income to make up for the benefits lost. The proposals set out in this seek to protect 
current entitlement in 2019/20 and as such have no implications, though the impact 
of the wider welfare reforms agenda will need to be kept under constant review.

Page 47



Human Rights – Any human rights issues will be considered for any detailed 
MTFP(9) and Council Plan proposals as they are developed and decisions made to 
take these forward.
Consultation – The approach to consultation on MTFP(9) is detailed in the report.

Town and Parish Councils have been consulted on the proposals to continue to 
passport an element of the Councils formula grant, equivalent to the Town and 
Parish share of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant funding, with pro-rata 
reductions applied in line with government grant cists applied to the County Council. 

No consultation is required in terms of the changes made to the Council Tax 
Discretionary Reduction (Hardship Relief) Policy as these are largely to improve 
transparency and clarity, based on feedback from Citizens Advice.  

Similarly, no consultation is required on the Council Tax Discretionary Reduction 
(Relief) For Care Leavers Policies appended to this report, as the proposal is to 
retain the existing policy provision, as originally approved by Cabinet in July 2017. 

The Grant Determinations published on the Local Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme 
adopted last year stated that there was a requirement to consult with the major 
precepting authorities (Police and Fire) and the Combined Authority on our proposed 
scheme. In approving the original scheme in July 2017, these statutory requirements 
were met. The changes made to the percentage support given to local businesses 
meeting the Councils policy criteria, have been taken under delegated decisions to 
ensure that the full amount of Government funding for such schemes was awarded 
to local businesses in 2017/18 and again in 2018/19 and requires no further 
consultation..
.
Procurement – None specific within this report.

Disability Issues – All requirements will be considered as part of the equalities 
considerations outlined in the main body of the report.

Legal Implications – There is a statutory requirement for the Council to adopt a 
local council tax support scheme for the ensuing financial year by 11 March (until 
recently this was 31 January). Where the Council is proposing any changes to its 
scheme, there is a statutory requirement to consult on these proposals in advance of 
making any changes.

Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and subsequent amending 
legislation provides the provisions and criteria for awarding discretionary rate relief. 
The Localism Act 2011 amended Section 47 Clause 69, of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 to allow local authorities to reduce the business rates of any local 
ratepayer (not just those who can currently be granted discretionary relief), via a 
local discount scheme.  

Statutory guidance states that any discretionary rate relief or local discount scheme 
must be in the interests of the wider council taxpayer.

Page 48



The proposals set out in this report seek to ensure that the Councils Policy is in line 
with legislative requirements. Any changes to the Discretionary Rate Relief and 
Hardship Relief Policies need to be approved by Cabinet.

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 section 13a makes the provision for Billing 
Authorities to reduce the amount of tax payable by awarding a discretionary relief of 
Council Tax in exceptional circumstances, including hardship.

The proposed amendments / updates to the Council Tax Discretionary Reduction 
(Hardship Relief) Policy need to be approved by Cabinet before they can be 
implemented.

Page 49



Appendix 2 – MTFP(9) Savings Plans

MTFP REF Savings Proposal Description 2019/20 
MTFP 

Savings

2020/21 
MTFP 

Savings

2021/22 
MTFP 

Savings

2022/23 Total

 £ £ £ £ £
AHS 1.1 Review direct provision 

of remaining in-house 
services

Relates to phased savings arising from 
review of reablement and supported living 
and restructuring of Extra Care (previously 
agreed by Cabinet September 2016 and in 

2018/19 budget).

1,098,810 477,190 0 0 1,576,000

AHS 3.1 Review of Adult Social 
Care Charging

Phased savings arising from changes to 
ASC charging policy in respect of Disability 

Related Expenditure disregards in new 
cases only (previously agreed by Cabinet 

March 2017 and in 2018/19 budget)

167,000 0 0 0 167,000

AHS 3.2 Review of Adult Social 
Care Charging

Phased savings from changes to ASC 
charging policy in respect of the Minimum 

Income Guarantee thresholds in new 
cases only (Agreed in 2018/19 budget).

266,667 266,667 0 0 533,334

AHS 4.4 Review of Adult Social 
Work Function

Review of Social Work related posts (Full 
year impact of 2018/19 budget decision)

103,863 0 0 0 103,863

Total - Adults & Health Services 1,636,340 743,857 0 0 2,380,197
CYPS 3.2 Education -  Service 

Review
Restructure of Education Services across 

all teams, together with non staffing budget 
reductions and increased income 

generation (Full year impact of 2018/19 
budget decision).

30,000 0 0 0 30,000

Total - Children & Young People Services 30,000 0 0 0 30,000

P
age 50



MTFP REF Savings Proposal Description 2019/20 
MTFP 

Savings

2020/21 
MTFP 

Savings

2021/22 
MTFP 

Savings

2022/23 Total

 £ £ £ £ £
REAL01.20 Review of Culture & 

Sport 
This proposal will see a general scaling 
down and re-structuring of a range of 

development services in both sport and the 
arts together with further operational 

reductions across the service (Full year 
impact of 2018/19 budget decision).

180,000 0 0 0 180,000

REAL3.92 Review of Building and 
Facilities

Maintenance

Reductions across a range of service 
areas in Building and Facilities 

Maintenance, R&M Budgets and in out of 
hours services (Full year impact of 2018/19 

budget decision).

185,278 0 0 0 185,278

REAL6.06 Review of garden waste 
charges

Savings proposal includes a £5 annual 
increase on garden waste charging to £35 

(Decision made in 2018/19 budget)

259,000 0 0 0 259,000

REAL24.09 Leisure Income A national judgement in relation to VAT 
treatment of Leisure income has enabled 
additional income to be retained by the 

Council

600,000 0 0 0 600,000

REAL36 Transport -  Contracted 
Bus Services 

Procurement efficiencies in contracted 
rates for bus routes throughout the County

247,000 0 0 0 247,000

REAL37 Planning Increased income from Planning Fees 240,000 0 0 0 240,000
REAL39 HQ Saving The development of the new Council HQ 

will generate savings in the running cost of 
the new building. The saving will be 

realised in 2022/23.

0 0 0 275,000 275,000

Total - Regeneration & Local Services 1,711,278 0 0 275,000 1,986,278

P
age 51



MTFP REF Savings Proposal Description 2019/20 
MTFP 

Savings

2020/21 
MTFP 

Savings

2021/22 
MTFP 

Savings

2022/23 Total

 £ £ £ £ £
RES07 Restructure in HR A restructure of HR 0 128,123 0 0 128,123
RES13 Restructure of Legal & 

Democratic Services
A restructure of Legal & Democratic 

Services
0 153,469 0 0 153,469

RES16 Review of Digital & 
Customer Services 

Review of Digital & Customer Services 
structures and service delivery 

arrangements, including a further review of 
ICT systems / licensing / non-staffing 

budgets

 357,094 0 0 357,094

Total - Resources 0 638,686 0 0 638,686
COR35 Commercial Activity As part of the Transformation Programme 

a wide range of reviews will be carried out 
in relation to the Council's current income 

streams. Reviews will consider if the 
Council is currently covering full costs, 

whether charges could be increased and 
whether new markets could be explored. In 

addition new Commercial deals will be 
explored which could generate a stable 

financial return for the Council.

0 500,000 500,000 0 1,000,000

COR36 Prudential Borrowing The Council supports the capital 
programme via prudential borrowing. 

Interest rates are at historically low levels 
at the present time and alternate investors 
are entering the market to provide loans to 
local authorities. The Council will seek to 
take advantage of this position to secure 

low long term interest rates on the 
Council's current borrowing requirement.

750,000 0 0 0 750,000

P
age 52



MTFP REF Savings Proposal Description 2019/20 
MTFP 

Savings

2020/21 
MTFP 

Savings

2021/22 
MTFP 

Savings

2022/23 Total

 £ £ £ £ £
COR37 Investment Income A review of current investment income 

streams has identified that there is scope 
to increase the current budget. Investment 

income is presently generated from the 
investment of cash balances and dividend 
returns from Council owned companies.

500,000 0 0 0 500,000

COR38 Minimum Revenue 
Provision Review 

The Council continually reviews the 
minimum revenue provision (MRP) as part 
of the Treasury Management Strategy. A 
recent review has identified that annual 

savings could be achieved by varying the 
Council's approach.  

3,000,000 0 0 0 3,000,000

COR39 Carbon Reduction 
Commitment (CRC)

The CRC process is expected to end as of 
31 March 2020. The government intends at 
that point to increase the Climate change 
Levy (CCL) which is presently recovered 

via energy bills. Based upon current 
forecasts it is expected that the increase 
cost of CCL will be lower than the current 

cost of the CRC generating a saving

300,000 0 0 0 300,000

P
age 53



MTFP REF Savings Proposal Description 2019/20 
MTFP 

Savings

2020/21 
MTFP 

Savings

2021/22 
MTFP 

Savings

2022/23 Total

 £ £ £ £ £
COR40 Strategic Services 

Review 
The deep dive exercise undertaken by 
PWC highlighted that the Council could 

make better use of digital business 
intelligence data as part of its strategic 

planning process.  Greater efficiencies can 
be created across the Council through the 
reduction of paper based performance and 

data systems, whilst better digital 
intelligence can support the more efficient 

use of resources, consolidating and 
targeting services on community needs. 

0 200,000 300,000 0 500,000

COR41 Business Support 
Review

The deep dive exercise undertaken by 
PWC last year highlighted that the Council 
would benefit from a modernised, single 

business support function with digital 
capability, organised as a hub and spoke 

model. As part of the Transformation 
Programme a new business support 

function will be created, with efficiencies 
created through a series of business 

process reviews. 

0 3,100,000 0 0 3,100,000

Total - Corporate Savings 4,550,000 3,800,000 800,000 0 9,150,000
Total Savings - MTFP 9 7,927,618 5,182,543 800,000 275,000 14,185,161

P
age 54



Appendix 3 - Medium Term Financial Plan - MTFP (9) 2019/20 - 2022/23 Model

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Government Funding
Government RSG Funding Reduction 14,240 0 0 0
Reduction in Public Health Grant 1,286 0 0 0
Reduction in resource due to Fair Funding Review 0 2,000 2,000 2,000
Reduction in Benefit Admin Grant 300 300 0 0
Town and Parish Council RSG Adjustment -93 0 0 0
Impact of Business Rate Revaluation 341 0 0 0
Bus. Rates - CPI increase (2%/1.75%/1.5%/1.5%) -1,000 -900 -800 -800
Top Up - CPI increase (2%/1.75%/1.5%/1.5%) -1,400 -1,200 -1,000 -1,000
Section 31 Grant adj. and inflation uplift (19/20 2.9% RPI) -1,300 -150 -100 -100
Improved Better Care Fund -5,700 4,000 0 0
New Homes Bonus 347 800 250 250
Other Funding Sources
Council Tax Increase (2.99% 18/19 and 19/20 then 1.99%) -6,300 -4,400 -4,500 -4,600
Council Tax Adult Social Care Precept (2% increase) -4,200 0 0 0
Council Tax/Business Rate Tax Base increase -2,500 -3,000 -1,500 -1,500
Estimated Variance in Resource Base -5,979 -2,550 -5,650 -5,750

Pay inflation (2.5% - 2% - 2% - 2%) 5,000 4,300 4,400 4,500
Price Inflation (1.5% - 1.5% - 1.5% - 1.5%) 3,000 3,100 3,200 3,300

Base Budget Pressures
Costs Associated with National Living Wage 3,250 4,000 2,500 1,500
Additional Employer Pension Contributions 0 1,000 0 0
Energy Price Increases 250 250 250 250
Pension Fund Auto Enrolment - Employer Contributions 600 0 0 0
SSID Replacement Licences 0 300 0 0
Adults Demographic Pressures 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Adults - Winterbourne 535 372 0 0
Childrens - Demographics 500 500 500 500
Childrens - LAC Pressures -500 -500 -500 -500
Childrens - Social Care Staffing 400 0 0 0
Job Evaluation 500 0 0 0
ReaL - Empty Homes 0 0 -103 0
Unfunded Superannuation -300 -150 -150 -150
Prudential Borrowing to fund new Capital Projects 250 750 2,000 2,000

TOTAL PRESSURES 14,485 14,922 13,097 12,400

Use of One Off funds
Adjustment for use of BSR in previous year 339 0 0 0
Savings 
Savings Agreed in MTFP(8) -2,290 -1,383 0 0
Transformation Savings -4,250 -3,800 -800 0
Additional Savings Identified  -1,387 0 0 -275

Savings Shortfall 918 7,189 6,647 6,375

Page 55



Appendix 4 - MTFP 9 Table of Equality Impacts

AHS

MTFP Ref / 
Savings 
Proposal

Description Impact Mitigation

AHS 1.1
Review direct 
provision of 
remaining in-
house services

Relates to phased savings 
arising from outsourcing of 
reablement and supported 
living and restructuring of 
Extra Care clients/service 
users who are eligible will 
continue to receive services 
(previously agreed by 
Cabinet September 2016).

Service users affected by the change are 
predominantly older and disabled people. 
There are likely to be higher numbers of 
women than men impacted, and more 
carers are likely to be female than male.

Changes to operating models are not 
anticipated to affect the level of service 
provided as service users will continue to 
receive services to address their needs 
however some service users may 
experience a change of provider.

Saving will involve potential changes to 
staffing which will include, in some 
instances, TUPE transfer.

Services will continue to operate, and 
the principles of the review work are 
that eligible service users will continue 
to receive support, subject to ongoing 
annual review and consistent 
application of eligibility criteria. 

Transition arrangements, including 
individual care plans will be sensitively 
planned to mitigate any issues 
connected to a change of provider. 
Service users and staff will receive 
communication on a timely basis and 
alternative means of communication 
will be provided where required. 
 
Any changes relating to staff will be 
carefully planned and implemented to 
promote fairness and equality in line 
with DCC procedures by following the 
Change Management toolkit.

Consideration of ER/VR, where 
possible, and deletion of vacant posts 
will minimise impact on staff.

P
age 56



MTFP Ref / 
Savings 
Proposal

Description Impact Mitigation

AHS 3.1
Review of 
Adult Social 
Care Charging

(Disability 
related 
expenditure)

Phased savings arising 
from changes to ASC 
charging policy in respect of 
Disability Related 
Expenditure disregards in 
new cases only (previously 
agreed by Cabinet March 
2017)

This is a continuation of a saving agreed in 
2017 with full public consultation carried 
out April-June 2016 prior to the decision. 

Current applicants (at the time of 
implementation) were not affected, only 
new applications/clients. Previous profile 
suggested that people most affected are 
more likely to be older, female and will 
have some form of severe disability. The 
policy change led to a negative impact for 
some due to increased financial 
contributions as a result of ending the 
automatic 50% disregard in relation to 
service users in receipt of the severe 
disability premium.

Ongoing support is provided to service 
users were necessary as changes 
implemented. This includes advice 
and support to help maximise income 
and benefit entitlement where possible 
during the financial assessment. 
Social work support is available if 
required. Service users unhappy with 
the financial contribution they are 
assessed to make will be offered a 
further fast track review.

Since the policy was introduced no 
complaints or issues for consideration 
have been raised with regard to the 
charging policy.

AHS 3.2
Review of 
Adult Social 
Care Charging

(Minimum 
income 
guarantee)

Phased savings from 
changes to ASC charging 
policy in respect of the 
Minimum Income 
Guarantee thresholds in 
new cases only.

It is anticipated that this policy will 
implement consistency across all new 
service users post April 2018.

The adverse effect will derive from the 
increase in care costs predominantly 
affecting older and disabled people and 
greater proportions of women.

The decision to implement proposal was 
made by Cabinet on 14 March 2018.

Ongoing support is provided to new 
clients. This includes advice and 
support to help maximise income and 
benefit entitlement where possible 
during the financial assessment. 
Social work support will be available if 
required. Service users unhappy with 
the financial contribution they are 
assessed to make are offered a further 
fast track review.

P
age 57



MTFP Ref / 
Savings 
Proposal

Description Impact Mitigation

AHS 4.4
Review of 
Adult Social 
Work Function

Review of social work 
related posts.

No service impact is expected.

Staff impact in terms of a management 
review.

The review will be completed following 
change management guidelines to 
ensure fair treatment.

CYPS
MTFP Ref/
Savings 
Proposal

Description Impact Mitigation

CYPS 3.2
Education -  
Service 
Review

Restructure of Education 
Services across all teams, 
together with non-staffing 
budget reductions and 
increased income 
generation.

Staff impact in terms of a restructure. The review will be completed following 
change management guidelines to 
ensure fair treatment.

REAL
MTFP Ref/
Savings 
Proposal

Description Impact Mitigation

REAL 1.20
Review of 
Culture & Sport

This proposal will see a 
general scaling down and 
re-structuring of a range of 
development services in 
both sport and the arts 
together with further 
operational reductions 
across the service

Change will mainly affect targeted 
interventions. Service recipients by nature 
are therefore transient depending upon 
specific programmes operating at any one 
time. Whilst this saving may result in fewer 
new programmes being introduced it is 
unlikely to affect existing users. Impact is 
likely to relate to gender, age and disability 

Monitor impact going forward and 
update of the equality impact 
assessment as the proposal develop.

Staffing changes would be completed 
following change management 
guidelines to ensure fair treatment.

P
age 58



MTFP Ref/
Savings 
Proposal

Description Impact Mitigation

going forward with reduced access to 
targeted interventions for these groups.

Proposals will result in changes to staffing 
levels. 

Consideration of ER/VR, where 
possible, and deletion of vacant posts 
will minimise impact on staff.

REAL 3.92
Review of 
Building and 
Facilities 
Maintenance

Reductions across a range 
of service areas in Building 
and Facilities Maintenance, 
R&M Budgets and in out of 
hours services.

No negative impact on external service 
users as proposal will bring about more 
efficient ways of working.

Impact on staff expected.

Staffing changes would be completed 
following change management 
guidelines to ensure fair treatment.

Consideration of ER/VR, where 
possible, and deletion of vacant posts 
will minimise impact.

REAL 6.06
Review of 
garden waste 
charges

Savings proposal includes a 
£5 annual increase on 
garden waste charging 
each year in 18/19 and 
19/20 (to £30 and then £35 
- three year discounted offer 
to be made available)

An increase in charging has a negative 
financial impact for all those accessing the 
service. However there is likely to be a 
disproportionate impact on disabled and 
older residents accessing the garden 
waste service as they may be restricted in 
the means by which they can otherwise 
dispose of their waste.

There is an option of a discounted multi-
year deal to pay for this service which will 
ease the impact of increased charging for 
all customers.

The service will ensure the change to 
the charge is comprehensively 
communicated; including ensuring that 
the service information is accessible to 
all residents.  Residents needing help 
to present and pull in their waste bin 
(often due to disability) are able to 
access the ‘assisted collection’ service. 

Households are reminded that they 
can share garden waste bins with 
neighbours (as publicised on the 
Council website) which will cut costs 
and help to mitigate financial impact for 
some.  Multi-year discounted payment 
plans will ease impact for some. 
 

P
age 59



MTFP Ref/
Savings 
Proposal

Description Impact Mitigation

REAL 37
Environment, 
Health and 
Consumer 
Protection and 
Planning

Phase 2 of review of service 
delivery within EHCP and 
increased income from 
planning fees.

Staff impact in terms of a restructure. 

It is unclear at this stage if there will be any 
service impact and the equality impact 
assessment will be updated as the saving 
proposal progresses. 

The restructure/staffing changes would 
be completed following change 
management guidelines to ensure fair 
treatment. Consideration of ER/VR, 
where possible, will minimise impact 
on staff.

P
age 60



Appendix 5 - Council Tax Discretionary Reduction Policy 

Reviewed JULY 2018

Council Tax 
Discretionary 

Reduction (Hardship 
Relief) Policy

Page 61



Contents

1. Introduction and Purpose of Policy Document

2. Council Tax – Discretionary Reduction Policy 

2.1 Introduction

2.2 Legislation

2.3 Durham County Council Policy

2.4 Criteria

2.5 The Application

2.6 The Decision Making Process

2.7 Review of Decision

2.8 Recovery of a Hardship Relief Award

2.9 Fraud

Appendix 1 Application Form

Page 62



1. Purpose of Policy Document

1.1 This policy sets out the Council’s approach to the awarding of discretionary hardship 
relief in respect of Council Tax liability.  It has been designed to ensure that all 
customers making an application for relief are treated in a fair, consistent and equal 
manner.

1.2 This policy has been written to:

 Set guidelines for the factors that should be considered when making a decision 
to award or refuse an application

 Set out the delegated authority to award relief in appropriate circumstances

 Establish an appeals procedure for customers dissatisfied with a decision

 Safeguard the interest of the local taxpayers by ensuring that funds that are 
allocated for the award of relief are used in the most effective and economic way

2. Council Tax Discretionary Reduction Policy 

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Councils have the power to reduce the amount of Council Tax a person has to pay to 
such an extent as they see fit. This includes the power to reduce an amount to nil, and 
may be exercised in relation to particular cases or by determining a class of property in 
which liability is to be reduced to an extent provided for by the determination. There is 
a cost to the Council in respect of any hardship relief awarded and is met by the 
Council’s collection fund.

2.1.2 This policy will incorporate the Localised Council Tax Support Scheme and Council 
Tax Technical Changes introduced from 1st April 2013.

2.2 Legislation

2.2.1 Council Tax hardship awards are included in Section 13A Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 as amended by Local Government Act 2003, section 76. Section 76 gives 
councils the authority to make a discretionary payment of Council Tax where it is 
satisfied that the taxpayer would sustain exceptional hardship if it did not do so. 

2.3 Durham County Council Policy

2.3.1 Durham County Council has not defined any specific class of property on which to 
award a section 13A discount. 

2.3.2 Applications for a reduction will usually only be considered in individual cases where 
severe hardship or extenuating circumstances can be demonstrated.

2.3.3 Where an application is successful, the award will be paid/credited directly to the 
Council Tax account.

2.4 Criteria

2.4.1 Each hardship application will be assessed on its individual merits. When assessing 
applications, the following considerations will be made:

Page 63



 All applications are only intended as short term assistance and awards will not 
extend beyond the current financial year, and should not be considered as a way 
of reducing Council Tax liability indefinitely

 Hardship relief or remission will be the exception and not the rule

 Council Tax hardship relief will not be awarded for any reason other than to 
reduce Council Tax liability

 Relief is not to be granted in order to prevent recovery action being instigated by 
the Council or to stop bankruptcy or committal to prison proceedings commenced 
by the Council or any other body

 The applicant must detail the reasons for the application, explaining the specific 
circumstances and hardship being experienced

 There must be evidence of hardship or personal circumstances that justifies a 
reduction in Council Tax liability. There is no definition in the legislation for 
‘hardship’ and as the scheme is aimed at covering unforeseen events it is not 
possible to list precise criteria. Applications will be accepted on the basis that the 
applicant or household would suffer exceptional financial hardship if financial 
assistance were not given

 Exceptional circumstances for hardship under the Council Tax regulations will 
usually be circumstances that are outside the control of the household and 
beyond normal risks faced by a household. The household must demonstrate that 
it has done all it can to mitigate those risks and is taking action to minimise them

 The Council’s finances allow for a reduction to be made and it is reasonable to do 
so in light of the impact on other Council Tax payers

 The Council Tax payer (applicant) must be able to able to demonstrate that all 
reasonable steps have been taken to meet their full Council Tax liability prior to 
application including exploring entitlement to all other reliefs, discounts, 
exemptions, reductions, discretionary payments and valuation office appeals

 The Council Tax payer does not have access to other assets that could be 
realised and used to pay Council Tax

 Application for hardship relief should be one of last resort. Applicants will be 
expected to have explored and secured any lawful entitlement to other benefits, 
incomes and reductions in preference to claiming hardship relief. This particularly 
includes an application for Council Tax Reduction

 The liable person for an unoccupied domestic property has made their best efforts 
to sell or let the property and to levy a Council Tax charge would cause them 
exceptional financial hardship

 The Council’s finances allow for a reduction to be made

Page 64



 The amount outstanding must not be the result of wilful refusal to pay or culpable 
neglect

2.4.2 Hardship relief will normally be awarded for a short, fixed period depending on the 
nature and likely duration of the hardship. In all cases relief will end in the following 
circumstances: 

 At the end of a financial year

 There is a change of liable person

 The Council Tax payer enters any form of formal insolvency 

 The Council Tax payer’s financial circumstances significantly change. 

 At the end of any fixed period notified to the Council Tax payer at the time of the 
award

2.5 The Application

2.5.1 All applications should be made in writing or electronically from the Council Tax payer, 
their advocate/appointee or a recognised third party acting on their behalf, using the 
relevant form and contain the necessary information including a full financial statement. 
Postal application forms and any supporting information should be completed and 
returned to:

Durham County Council
Revenues and Benefits
PO Box 238
Stanley
Co Durham 
DH8 1FP

2.5.2 It is the responsibility of the Council Tax payer applying for relief to provide sufficient 
information and documentary evidence to support their applications. If the 
Council Tax payer applying does not, or will not, provide the required evidence; 
the application will still be considered, but only on the basis of the information and 
evidence provided. No costs will be borne by the Council in the provision of this 
evidence.

2.5.3 Further information may be requested to support an application. Where a request for 
further information is made information must be provided within 4 weeks. Failure to 
provide information within 4 weeks may lead to the refusal of the application unless 
good cause can be shown.

2.6. The Decision Making Process

2.6.1 Upon receipt of a signed application and all supporting documentation 
/information a standard decision making process will be followed:

 Initial applications will be considered by Team Leader (Collections & 
Enforcement) within 28 days of receipt of a signed application and all supporting 

Page 65



information. This will include a review sheet, with findings and financial 
implications and initial recommendations 

 Recommendations will then be forwarded to Assistant Payments Income & 
Support Manager within 7 days

 These will then be forwarded to Head of Finance & Transactional Services for 
approval/refusal within 7 days 

 Once a decision has been approved the Council Tax payer will be notified in 
writing of the decision within 28 days and revised Council Tax demand notices will 
be issued where applicable

 Whilst every effort will be made to meet the deadlines outlined above, failure by 
the Council to do so does not qualify the claimant for relief

2.7. Review of Decision

2.7.1 The Council will accept a request from a Council Tax payer for a re-determination of its 
decision. 

 Re-determination of the decision will be by the Corporate Director, Resources. 

 Requests should be made in writing stating reasons why it is believed that the 
decision should be reviewed

 In the case where the customer has been notified of a decision and they exercise 
their rights to appeal, payment cannot be withheld pending an appeal decision. In 
the event that an appeal is successful, any interim overpayment will be refunded.

 The Council will consider whether the Council Tax payer has provided any 
additional information that will justify a change to its original decision. 

 The Council will notify the Council Tax payer of its final decision within 21 days of 
receiving a request for a re-determination.

 Whilst every effort will be made to meet the deadline outlined above, failure by the 
Council to do so does not qualify the claimant for relief.

 If a claimant remains dissatisfied with refusal of their application they may appeal 
to the Valuation Tribunal for England (VTE). You have two months to do this from 
the date of our reply.

Valuation Tribunal
Hepworth House

Trafford Court
Doncaster
DN1 1PN
Email: vtdoncaster@vts.gsi.gov.

Page 66

mailto:vtdoncaster@vts.gsi.gov.uk


2.8 Recovery of a Hardship Relief Award

2.8.1 If an award is subsequently cancelled the amount will be withdrawn from the 
applicant’s Council Tax account and will be payable as the Council Tax due under the 
regulations.

2.9 Fraud

2.9.1 The Council reserves the right to withdraw any award made under this scheme where 
fraud or error has occurred

2.9.2 The Council reserves the right to withdraw any award where the applicant has failed to 
provide, or, has knowingly provided false or misleading information.

Page 67



Annex 1
Application for Council Tax Discretionary Hardship Relief under Section 

13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992
 

* Please note that if a joint bill has been issued then the application must also be made in joint 
names 

 
 

Name of applicant/s, this must be the name of the person(s) who is/are liable to pay the Council Tax: 

If you are completing this application on behalf of someone else, please provide your name:
 

Contact Address:  
 
                              
 
 

                               
Telephone number for contact purposes:            
 

Email address for contact purposes:     
 

 

Address of property for which relief is being claimed:  
  

       
 
      

Is the property owned or rented?: Owned/Rented
      

Owners Name(s): 
 
 
 

Is the property currently vacant?  Yes/No 

 

What is the value of equity in the property?  £ 
 

Page 68



Is the property currently marketed for sale? Yes/No
If yes, please provide details of marketing agent/estate agent for the property 

 
 
 
 

Is the property currently marketed for rent? Yes/No 
If yes, please provide details of marketing agent/ estate agent for the property 

Please provide details of any other property or land owned by yourself, along with the value of any rental 
income you receive: 

If you have left a property empty to move to more suitable accommodation or to receive or provide care 
due to old age, disablement, illness, alcohol or drug abuse or mental disorder, then please provide details 
below: 

Page 69



Please provide the detailed reasons why you are applying for Hardship Relief for Council Tax. This should 
fully explain the circumstances that are creating financial difficulty and how long you expect these 
circumstances to continue: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



Has an application for Council Tax Reduction (previously known as Council Tax Benefit) been made? Yes/No 
 
 
 

Are you receiving financial assistance from any other source? Yes/No 
If yes, please provide details: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Have you approached any organisation for financial advice or assistance, such as Citizen Advice, Welfare 
Rights, etc.? Yes/No 
Please provide details: 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Please provide details of any stocks/shares/savings/ money you may have or money you are owed:

 
 
 

Please provide any additional information in support of your application: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please note that your application will not be processed unless the enclosed financial 
statement is completed and returned, and, all of required evidence to support your 
claim is provided. 

 

Page 71



All applicants must provide documentary evidence in support of their claim. As a 
minimum these should include the following:- 

 Documents confirming the income and expenditure 
 Bank issued statements for a 6 month sequential period for the year the 

hardship relief is applied for, and current bank statements
 Any additional information to support the application 
 Documented evidence of any Savings/Stocks/Shares 
 
Clear photocopies of original documents and verified computer printed downloaded 
documents may be accepted.  However any photographs of documentation cannot be 
accepted as evidence to support claims.

I declare that the information given on this form is, to the best of my knowledge, 
accurate and complete. 
 
I understand that a copy of this form may also be sent to the Welfare Rights who may 
be able to offer me further advice and assistance. 
 
I also understand that whilst this application for relief is pending I am not entitled to 
withhold payment of Council Tax due to the Council. 
  
Signed: …………………………………………………………………… 
 
Capacity of person signing: ……………………………………………. 
 
Date: ……………………………………………………………………… 
 
Daytime telephone number: …………………………………………… 
 

Please return your completed form to:- 
Durham County Council 
PO Box 238 
Stanley 
County Durham 
DH8 1FP 

 

If you have any queries relating to completion of this form please do not hesitate to contact the 
Enforcement Team on 03000 266883.

For information: In line with Data Protection law we may use information you give us to prevent or 
detect fraud or other crimes. We may also share it with other Council Services or public organisations 
if they need it to carry out their legal duties. 

Page 72



FINANCIAL INFORMATION STATEMENT

Financial Support Services
PO Box 238
Stanley
County Durham
DH8 1FP

Tel: 03000 265000
On Line: www.durham.gov.uk/counciltax

Name of Owner 1: 
 
Address of Owner 1: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact No Email Address Marital Status

Partners Details & Dependents in Household (Please list)
Name Relationship to You Age 

Page 73



Employers/Self-employment/ Benefit Agency
Please state the name and address of the employer or benefits agency office of you and your 
partner:
You: Your Partner:

National Insurance/Payroll No: National Insurance/Payroll No:

Income Amount Weekly/Monthly
Net earnings from Employment £
Net earnings from Employment (current 
partner)

£  

Job Seekers Allowance/Income Support £  
Universal Credit £
Employment Support Allowance/Incapacity 
Benefit

£

Personal Independent Payments/Disability 
Living Allowance

£

Working Tax Credit £  
Disabled Tax Credit £  
Child Tax Credit £  
Retirement Pension £  
Private Pension £  
Guaranteed Pension Credit £  
Savings Credit £  
Child Benefit £  
Child Maintenance £  
Maternity Allowance £  
Paternity Allowance £
Fostering/Adoption Allowance £
Statutory Sick Pay £
Attendance Allowance £
Carers Allowance £
Industrial Injuries Benefit £
Bereavement Allowance £  
War Pension £  
Income from Lodgers £
Income from other people in the household £
Non Dependant Contribution £
Any Other Income (Please state) £  
Total Income £  

 Expenditure Amount Weekly/Monthly 
 Rent/Mortgage £  
 Council Tax £  

Page 74



 Water Rates £  
 House Insurance £  
 Life Insurance £  
 Gas/Electricity/Fuel £  
 Housekeeping/Fuel £  
 Telephone/Mobile £  
 TV Rental £  
 TV Licence £  
 Travel Expenses £  
 Car Running Costs (Petrol, Oil etc.) £  
 Car Insurance £  
 Car Tax £  
 Car Repayments £  
 Catalogues £  
 Loans £  
 Credit/Store Cards £  
 Hire Purchase/Credit Repayments £  
 Fines £  
 Child Care £  
 Child Maintenance £  
 Clothing £  
 Other Expenses (please specify) £  

   
   
   

 Total Expenditure £  

 I hereby certify that the above information is 
an accurate record of my present financial 
position

Signed

Date

Page 75



FINANCIAL INFORMATION STATEMENT

Financial Support Services
PO Box 238
Stanley
County Durham
DH8 1FP

Tel: 03000 265000
On Line: www.durham.gov.uk/counciltax

Name of Owner 2: 
 
Address of Owner 2: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact No Email Address Marital Status

Partners Details & Dependents in Household (Please list)
Name Relationship to You Age 

Page 76



Employers/Self-employment/ Benefit Agency
Please state the name and address of the employer or benefits agency office of you and your 
partner:
You: Your Partner:

National Insurance/Payroll No: National Insurance/Payroll No:

Income Amount Weekly/Monthly
Net earnings from Employment £  
Net earnings from Employment (current 
partner)

£

Job Seekers Allowance/Income Support £  
Universal Credit £
Employment Support Allowance/Incapacity 
Benefit

£

Personal Independent Payments/Disability 
Living Allowance

£

Working Tax Credit £  
Disabled Tax Credit £  
Child Tax Credit £  
Retirement Pension £  
Private Pension £  
Guaranteed Pension Credit £  
Savings Credit £  
Child Benefit £  
Child Maintenance £  
Maternity Allowance £  
Paternity Allowance £
Fostering/Adoption Allowance £
Statutory Sick Pay £
Attendance Allowance £
Carers Allowance £
Industrial Injuries Benefit £
Bereavement Allowance £  
War Pension £  
Income from Lodgers £
Income from other people in the household £
Non Dependant Contribution £
Any Other Income (Please state) £  
Total Income £  

 Expenditure Amount Weekly/Monthly 
 Rent/Mortgage £  
 Council Tax £  

Page 77



 Water Rates £  
 House Insurance £  
 Life Insurance £  
 Gas/Electricity/Fuel £  
 Housekeeping/Fuel £  
 Telephone/Mobile £  
 TV Rental £  
 TV Licence £  
 Travel Expenses £  
 Car Running Costs (Petrol, Oil etc.) £  
 Car Insurance £  
 Car Tax £  
 Car Repayments £  
 Catalogues £  
 Loans £  
 Credit/Store Cards £  
 Hire Purchase/Credit Repayments £  
 Fines £  
 Child Care £  
 Child Maintenance £  
 Clothing £  
 Other Expenses (please specify) £  

   
   
   

 Total Expenditure £  

 I hereby certify that the above information 
is an accurate record of my present financial 
position

Signed

Date

Page 78



Appendix 6 – Council Tax Discretionary Reduction for Care Leavers Policy

Reviewed JULY 2018

Council Tax 
Discretionary 

Reduction (Relief) For 
Care Leavers Policy

Page 79



Contents

3. Introduction and Purpose of Policy Document

4. Care Leavers Definition

5. Legislation

6. Application

7. Procedure

8. Exclusions

9. Appeals

10. Monitoring and Reporting

11. Review

Page 80



1. Introduction and Purpose 

1.1 Some councils have introduced measures to exempt care leavers from Council Tax following 
the recommendations made in the Government’s care leavers strategy, Keep On Caring, 
published in July 2016, which encouraged local authorities to do so.

1.2 While being supported by Children Young Peoples Services, care leavers are faced with a new 
set of potentially overwhelming responsibilities, often without the family support and wider 
network that most other young people can rely on.

1.3 As a corporate parent, Durham wants to do as much as possible to support care leavers up to 
the age of 25 years. By granting up to 100% discretionary relief from Council Tax, the Council 
will be providing practical help and financial assistance to care leavers whilst they are 
developing independent lives and their life skills.

1.4 This policy sets out the Council’s approach to the award of discretionary Council Tax relief in 
respect of Council Tax liability for resident Care leavers living in County Durham. There are two 
elements to the Policy

 Care leavers who are solely liable to pay Council Tax in their own right will have their 
bill reduced to nil.

 When a care leaver moves into a household, the Council Tax bill will be reduced to 
50%.

1.5 The discretionary relief will be awarded only after entitlement to other legislative discounts or 
exemptions have been applied (except Council Tax Reduction) and will apply to all care 
leavers living in County Durham.

1.6 Councils have the power to reduce the amount of Council Tax a person has to pay. This 
includes the power to reduce an amount to nil, and may be exercised in relation to particular 
cases or by determining a class of property in which liability is to be reduced to an extent 
provided for by the determination. 

This policy has been written to:

 Set procedures for awarding the relief / exemption to care leavers living in County 
Durham

 Establish an appeals procedure for customers dissatisfied with a decision made in the 
determination of entitlement to this relief / exemption 

 Safeguard the interest of the local taxpayers by ensuring that funds that are allocated for 
the award of relief are used in the most effective and economic way

2. Care Leavers - Definition 

2.2 The term ‘care leaver’ is defined in The Children (Care Leavers) Act 2000 and refers to eligible, 
relevant and former relevant children:

 Eligible children are those young people aged 16-17 who are still in care and have been 
‘looked after’ for a total of 13 weeks from the age of 14 and including their 16th birthday; 

 Relevant children are those young people aged 16 and 17 who have already left care, and 
who were ‘looked after’ for at least 13 weeks from the age of 14 and have been ‘looked 
after’ at some time while they were 16 or 17; 

 Former relevant children are those young people aged 18, 19 or 20 who have been eligible 
and/or relevant. 

Page 81



2.2 Care leavers can also be classified as ‘qualifying’ care leaver. This category applies to young 
people who:

 Left care after 1st October 2001, after they had turned 16, but who are not 'eligible' or 
'relevant' because they did not fulfil the 13 week criteria

 Were accommodated, but in residential education, mental/health provision private fostering 
or Special Guardianship

For this category of care leaver, local authority help is discretionary, but for the purposes of this 
policy, ‘qualifying care leavers’ will be treated in the same way as ‘care leavers’.

3. Legislation

3.1 Council Tax discretionary reduction (relief) awards are included in Section 13A of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by Local Government Act 2003. 

3.2 There is a cost to the Council in respect of any reduction or relief awarded and this is met by 
the Council’s collection fund / General Fund. 

3.3 There is a series of discounts, disregards and exemptions available under current Council Tax 
legislation for people and properties in certain circumstances. 

3.4 Exemption from Council Tax means that there is no liability to pay Council Tax. 

3.5 A discount from Council Tax usually relates to people, and means that a person is liable for 
less than the full amount of council tax. For example:

 A liable person living on their own would be entitled to a 25% single person discount

 A liable person living on their own who is a full time student would be entitled to a full 
exemption

 A liable person who is a student but resides with another person would be ‘disregarded’ 
and entitled to a 25% discount

4. The Application

4.1 An application form (ANNEX 1) will be required, except for cases where 4.6 applies, to be 
completed by the care leaver (or his/her appointee or a recognised third party acting on his/her 
behalf), or, the liable person where relevant (i.e. the liable person at the property in which the 
care leaver resides). 

4.2 Applications should be made in writing or by telephone, and may be received electronically, 
currently emailed to counciltax@durham.gov.uk. Postal application forms should be returned 
to:

Durham County Council
Revenues and Benefits
PO Box 238
Stanley
Co Durham 
DH8 1FP

4.3 The application form requires only pertinent details to be submitted in order to process the 
award of this relief. Basic information requirements include:

Page 82



 Full name
 Date of birth
 Which authority is the corporate parent
 Current address
 Details of any other relevant addresses
 Details of any other adults in the property
 Details of any circumstances that would be relevant to entitlement to legislative 

discounts, disregards or exemptions
 Contact details

4.4 The application form should be as clear and concise as possible in order to encourage take up 
and expedite administration.

4.5 A new application may need to be completed, except where 4.6 applies, if the care leaver 
moves, to confirm any change in circumstances

4.6 An application form is not required where the authority has been able to establish all the 
conditions of entitlement to discretionary relief from existing evidence.

5. The Procedure

System

5.1 Administration of the discretionary relief within the system (Open Revenues) will utilise the 
Discretionary Awards Module, as opposed to the functionality used to apportion discounts, 
disregards and exemptions. 

5.2 This will ensure that the Tax Base and the awarded discretionary relief is reported correctly 
and accurately. The relief will also be detailed separately to any other appropriate discount, 
disregard or exemption on the actual Council Tax demand notice (bill).

5.3 The system will work to award discretionary relief on a percentage basis, i.e. 25%, 50%, 75% 
or 100% where appropriate, and prior to the calculation of Council Tax Reduction therefore 
CTR will be assessed using the net charge. 

Administration

5.4 Applications will be administered by the Awards Team. Children and Young Peoples Services 
will be requested to confirm the care status of the applicant, this will need to be confirmed with:

 The Children and Young Peoples Service, where Durham is the corporate parent 
(protocol to be agreed between the two services)

 Where the corporate parent is another authority, written confirmation must be sought 
from the relevant council

5.5 The general principles of awarding the discretionary relief are as follows:

 Care leavers who are the liable person to pay council tax and live alone will receive a 
100% discretionary relief, only after any other appropriate legislative discounts or 
exemptions are applied (e.g. Single Persons Discount or Student Exemption)

 Care leavers who are jointly liable with  one or more residents in the property, who are 
a not care leavers, will receive 50% discretionary relief on the total charge, only after 
any other appropriate legislative discounts or exemptions are applied

Page 83



 Where a property is occupied only by care leavers, 100% discretionary relief will be 
applied.

 Where the care leaver lives in a household and the Council Tax would be subject to 
either a 25% discount or disregard, if the care leaver did not reside there, the bill will be 
reduced to 50%.

 Where the care leaver  lives in a household and the liable person is would be exempt if 
the care leaver did not reside with them, full discretionary relief will be applied.

 Where a care leaver lives in a household and the council tax would not be subject to a 
discount or disregard  if the care leaver did not reside there, the bill will be reduced to 
50%.

5.6 Awards will be made directly by a reduction in liability on the Council Tax account only and 
notification of the award of discretionary relief will be by way of the Council Tax bill.

5.7 The care leaver (or his/her appointee or a recognised third party acting on his/her behalf) or the 
liable person where relevant (i.e. the liable person at the property in which the care leaver 
resides) must advise of any change of circumstances which may impact the Council Tax 
charge within 21 days.

5.8 Any overpaid discretionary relief will be reclaimed through the relevant Council Tax account 
and collected and recovered under the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992.

6. Exclusions

6.1 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) where occupants:

 Do not constitute a single household
 Are a tenant or a have licence to occupy only part of the dwelling
 Share living space
 Are not the liable party to pay council tax

6.2 HMOs are generally ran as a business with the liable party for Council Tax being the 
landlord(s). For that reason, these properties and respective liable parties are excluded from   
this Policy.

7. Review of Decision/Appeals

7.1 The Council will accept a written request from a care leaver (or his/her appointee or a 
recognised third party acting on his/her behalf) or the liable person where relevant (i.e. the 
liable person at the property in which the care leaver resides), for a re-determination of its 
decision. 

 Re-determination of the decision will be made by an officer who has not previously been 
involved with the award. 

 The re-determination will be reviewed by a senior officer within the service.

 In the case where the customer has been notified of a decision and they exercise their 
rights to appeal, payment cannot be withheld pending an appeal decision. In the event 
that an appeal is successful, any interim overpayment will be refunded.

 The Council will consider whether any additional information has been provided that will 
justify a change to its original decision. 

Page 84



 The Council will notify the Council Tax payer of its final decision within 21 days of 
receiving a request for a re-determination.

 Whilst every effort will be made to meet the deadline outlined above, failure by the 
Council to do so does not qualify the applicant for relief.

 If an applicant remains dissatisfied with refusal of their application they may appeal to the 
Valuation Tribunal for England (VTE). You have two months to do this from the date of 
our reply.

Valuation Tribunal
Hepworth House

Trafford Court
Doncaster
DN1 1PN
Email: vtdoncaster@vts.gsi.gov.

8. Monitoring and Reporting

8.1 Discretionary awards made under this policy will be monitored and all awards made will be 
subject to regular quality assurance checking / annual reviews as appropriate

9. Policy Review

9.1 This Policy will be reviewed on an annual basis alongside the review of the Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme, with any changes being reported to Cabinet for consideration.

ANNEX 1 – APPLICATION FORM
ANNEX 2 – POTENTIAL SCENARIOS

Page 85

mailto:vtdoncaster@vts.gsi.gov.uk


ANNEX 1 – APPLICATION FORM

Revenues and Benefits
PO Box 238
Stanley
County Durham
DH8 1FP 

Tel: 03000 264 000
On Line: www.durham.gov.uk/counciltax

Email: counciltax@durham.gov.uk

Account Reference if known: 

Council Tax Care Leavers - Discretionary Payment Application

In order to be considered for a discretionary payment the person must be a care leaver under the age of 
25 who is paying Council Tax or living with someone who pays Council Tax. To apply, either the care 
leaver or liable person must complete the details below and return to us via email or post.  Our contact 
details are shown above.

1. About the Care Leaver – please complete this section giving details of the care leaver.

Title

First Name

Middle Name

Last Name

Date of Birth 

Address and Postcode 
of the property you will be moving in to 
or are living at

Date moved in

If you have recently moved please 
provide the previous address

E-mail address

Phone

Local Authority that looked 
after you and contact details*
Are you, as the care leaver, the only 
adult in the property Yes/No – if yes go to section 3

*we will contact the Local Authority to confirm this person is a care leaver.

2. Anyone else who lives in the property – please tell us about anyone else who lives in the property 
if they are aged 18 or over?

Full Name Spouse, Joint tenant, owner, living 
together,  civil parther or other

Page 86

http://www.durham.gov.uk/counciltax
mailto:counciltax@durham.gov.uk


3. Other Discounts and Exemptions - certain people may be entitled to a discount or exemption 
from council tax. This includes students, trainees and more.  Please tell us if you think any of 
the following apply to the care leaver or any other household member.

 full time student, student nurse, apprentice and youth training trainee
 severely mentally impaired
 care workers working for low pay, usually for charities
 caring for someone with a disability who is not their spouse, partner, or child under 18-years-old

If you have ticked any of these boxes please give details in section 4.

4. Is there anything that you would like to tell us

If this form has been completed over the telephone, please tick to confirm you have read the declaration 
below in full to the customer and they have confirmed they understand and agree it. 

Name of DCC officer completing telephone 
form:

Date:

If this is not a telephone application, please read this declaration carefully before you sign and date it.

Declaration
I declare that the information given by me on this form is correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.  I 
understand that failure to supply or giving false information is an offence for which a penalty may be 
imposed.  I also understand that I must inform the Council Tax Section as soon as there is any change in 
the information.

Name of person who 
filled in form (please 
print)

Relationship to the 
care leaver

Signature Date

Contact phone 
number

E-mail address

You must notify the Council immediately if there is a change in your circumstances, which may 
affect this information. Contact details are provided above.

Data Protection Act
For information: In line with Data Protection law we may use information you give us to prevent or detect fraud or 
other crimes. We may also share it with other Council Services or public 
organisations if they need it to carry out their duties.

Page 87



ANNEX 2 – POTENTIAL SCENARIOS

Where the care leaver is the person responsible for council tax:

 Care leaver living alone will receive single person discount of 25% and a discretionary payment 
of 75%

 Care leaver living with a non care leaver who is a partner/joint tenant will receive a 
discretionary payment of 50%

 A household (excluding a HMO) made up of just care leavers will receive a discretionary 
payment of 100%

 Two residents where one is a full time student and one is a care leaver will receive a student 
disregard of 25% and a discretionary payment of 75%

 Two residents where one is a care leaver and one is under 18 years will receive a single 
person discount of 25% and a discretionary payment of 75%

 Two residents where one is a care leaver and one is an apprentice will receive an 
apprenticeship disregard of 25% and a discretionary payment of 75%

Householders whose council tax charge would change when a care leaver moves in:

 Households which would be entitled to a 25% reduction, due to a discount or disregard, if the 
care leaver was not present will receive a discretionary payment of 50%

The above scenario assumes that the care leaver is not entitled to any disregards or discounts due to 
their circumstances.  If the care leaver is a student for example, then the following would apply:

 The householder would receive a student disregard of 25% and a discretionary payment of 
25%

If the householder was a full time student and the care leaver was a full time student the following 
would apply:

 The householder would receive an exemption, due to the house being occupied by only 
students, of 100%.

Page 88



1

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

14 September 2018 

Resources – Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2017/18 

Report of Corporate Director Resources

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide details of the outturn budget position for the Resources service 
grouping highlighting any major variances in comparison with the budget based 
on the outturn position to the end of March 2018. 

Background

2. County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2017/18 at its 
meeting on 22 February 2017. These budgets were subsequently revised to 
account for grant additions/reductions, corporate savings/adjustments, budget 
transfers between service groupings and budget profiling between years.  This 
report covers the financial position for the following major accounts maintained 
by the Resources service grouping:

a) Revenue Budget - £19.308 million (original £16.628 million)
b) Capital Programme – £6.309 million (original £16.228 million)

3. The original Resources budget was revised in year to incorporate a number of 
budget adjustments as follows:

£’000
a) Transfer to REAL - H&S SGS Surveillance Audit Administration (16)
b) Transfer from REAL - Customer Services (510)
c) Transfer from CAS - Parenting Panel Budget 6
d) Transfer from Adults and Public Health-Web Development 1
e) Transfer from Childrens-Web Development 1
f) Transfer from REAL - Customer Services - Central Dept 

Support Recharge 837
g) Transfer from Corporate - Head of People & Talent 

Management 100
h) Use of MTFP ER/VR Reserve 1,600
i) Use of Equal Pay Reserve 76
j) Use of Resources Cash Limit Reserve 192
k) Use of Oracle Development Reserve 172
l) Use of ICT Trading Reserve 256
m) Use of Elections Reserve 557
n) To Revenues & Benefits Reserve (500)
o) To Corporate Budgets (Coroners Service) (102)
p) Transfer to ICT Reserve (85)
q) Use of Elections Reserve 41

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



2

r) Transfer from REAL – Support Staff 11
s) Transfer to REAL – Support Staff (26)
t) Use of Welfare Rights Reserve 69

4. The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the financial year 
2017/18 and show: -

a) The approved annual budget;
b) The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s financial 

management system;
c) The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn;
d) For the Resources revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the 

cash limit to take into account such items as redundancies met from the 
strategic reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and use of / or 
contributions to earmarked reserves.

5. The outturn was a cash limit variance (underspend) of £1.378 million against a 
revised budget of £19.308 million. This compares to the previously forecast 
position (at quarter 3) of a £0.948 million underspend for the year.

6. The tables below compare the actual expenditure with the budget. The first 
table is analysed by Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense), and the second 
by Head of Service. Both tables show the comparative position as at quarter 3.

Subjective Analysis (£000’s)

Category
Annual 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn Variance

Total 
Items 

Outside  
Cash 
Limit

 Final 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance 

MEMO: 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance 
QTR3

Employees 46,297 45,158 (1,139) 290 (849) (792)
Premises 6,073 1,783 (4,290) 4,276 (14) (38)
Transport 662 565 (97) 0 (97) (75)
Supplies and Services 14,705 14,655 (50) (48) (98) (61)
Transfer Payments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Third Party Payments 20 9 (11) 0 (11) (8)
Central Support and 
Capital 11,767 15,219 3,452 (3,000) 452 360

Gross Expenditure 79,524 77,389 (2,135) 1,518 (617) (614)
Income (60,216) (60,555) (339) (471) (810) (334)
Net Expenditure 19,308 16,834 (2,474) 1,047 (1,427) (948)
HB Transfer payments 176,233 181,245 5,012 0 5,012 0
HB Central Support 
and Capital 400 (901) (1,301) 387 (914) 100

HB Income (176,633) (180,682) (4,049) 0 (4,049) 0
HB Net Expenditure 0 (338) (338) 387 49 0
Total Net 
Expenditure 19,308 16,496 (2,812) 1,434 (1,378) (948)

Page 90



3

By Head of Service (£000’s)

Category
Annual 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn Variance

Totals 
Outside 

Cash 
Limit

Final 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance 

MEMO: 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance 
QTR3

Central 
Establishment 
Recharges

(21,254) (18,116) 3,138 (3,138) 0 0

Corporate Finance & 
Commercial Services 3,717 3,020 (697) 307 (390) (149)

Finance & 
Transactional 
Services

10,445 9,722 (723) 298 (425) (386)

Digital & Customer 
Services 9,831 11,828 1,997 (2,316) (319) (151)

Internal Audit and 
Insurance 1,156 1,131 (25) 4 (21) (32)

People & Talent 
Management 1,282 1,256 (26) 44 18 6

Legal & Democratic 
Services 7,690 7,325 (365) 73 (292) (228)

Service 
Management/ Central 
Charges

6,441 668 (5,773) 5,775 2 (8)

Net Expenditure 
Excluding HB 19,308 16,834 (2,474) 1,047 (1,427) (948)

Housing Benefit 0 (338) (338) 387 49 0
Net expenditure    19,308 16,496 (2,812) 1,434 (1,378) (948)

7. The table below provides a brief commentary on the variances against the 
revised budget, analysed by Head of Service. The table identifies variances in 
the core budget only and excludes items outside of the cash limit (e.g. 
redundancy costs) and technical accounting adjustments (e.g. capital charges): 

Head of 
Service

Service Area Description Year End 
(Under) / 

overbudget
£000's

Year End 
(Under) / 

overbudget 
£000's

Management
£8k underbudget on employees
£13k overbudget on Supplies & Services
£2k overbudget on Central

7
 

Financial Systems £30k underbudget on employees
£46k underbudget on supplies and services (76)  

Procurement
£48k underbudget on employees
£38k overbudget on Supplies & Services
£51k over achieved income

(61)

 

Pensions

£33k overbudget on employees
£2k overbudget on transport
£58k overbudget on Central costs
£118k over achieved on income

(25)

 

Corporate 
Finance & 
Commercial 
Services

Strategic Finance – 
Revenue, Pensions 
& Technical

£11k overbudget on employees
£11k underbudget on supplies & services
£156k additional income

(156)
 

Page 91



4

Head of 
Service

Service Area Description Year End 
(Under) / 

overbudget
£000's

Year End 
(Under) / 

overbudget 
£000's

Strategic Finance – 
Commercial, Capital 
& Treasury

£14k overbudget on employees
£8k overbudget on supplies & services
£29k over achieved on income (7)

Occupational Health

£21k underbudget on employees
£1k overbudget on transport
£13k overbudget on supplies & servicess
£11k underbudget on third party payments
£7k additional income

(25)

 

Health and Safety

£43k underbudget on employees
£5k underbudget on transport
£22k overbudget on supplies & services
£2k overbudget on central
£23k additional income

(47)
(390)

 
Management No material variance (5)  

Operations & Data
£8k overbudget on employees 
£5k underbudget on Supplies & Services
£12k over achieved income

(9)

 

Financial 
Management

£29k overbudget on Employees
£3k underbudget on Transport
£28k overbudget on supplies and services
£8k overbudget on central
£71k additional income

(9)

 
Finance & 
Transactional 
Services

Revenues and 
Benefits

£343k underbudget on employees. Early 
achievement of 2018/19 MTFP savings and 
management of vacancies and other 
efficiencies.
£21k underbudget on transport.
£97k overbudget on supplies and services 
linked to outsourced packages.
£3k overbudget on central.
£138k over achieved income

(402)

(425)

Customer Services

£208k underbudget on employees mainly 
due to vacancies to be filled in 2017-18
£3k overbudget on premises
£18k underbudget on staff travelling
£60k underbudget on supplies & services
£10k additional income from DWP to fund 
extra staff.

(293)

 Digital & 
Customer 
Services

ICT Services

£121k underbudget on employees
£1k underbudget on premises
£14k underbudget on transport
£199k underbudget on supplies and services
£363k overbudget on central expenses, 
mainly relating to capital schemes funded 
from Direct Revenue Funding as agreed at 
Resources Management Team at quarter 1
£54k additional income

(26)

(319)

Insurance and Risk £2k overbudget on employees 2 
 

Internal Audit 

£9k underbudget on employees
£1k underbudget on transport
£15k overbudget on supplies and services
£1k under achieved income

4

 

Internal Audit 
and Risk

Corporate Fraud
£13k underbudget on employees
£1k overbudget on transport
£16k over achieved income

(28) (21)

Page 92



5

Head of 
Service

Service Area Description Year End 
(Under) / 

overbudget
£000's

Year End 
(Under) / 

overbudget 
£000's

Corporate and 
Democratic Core

£71k underbudget on employees
£33k underbudget on transport
£188k underbudget on supplies and services 
mainly relating to reduced printing, telephony 
and members expenses
£12k additional income

(304)

 

Legal and 
Democratic 
Services

Legal and Other 
Services

£20k overbudget on employees
£16k underbudget on premises
£125k overbudget on supplies and services 
mainly relating to barristers fees & electoral 
services
£2k overbudget on central expenses
Income over achieved by £119k mainly 
relating to reduced Land Charges and legal 
fee income, offset by increased government 
grants, SLA income and Registration service 
income

12

(292)

People & 
Talent 
Mangement

People & Talent 
Management

£7k overbudget on employees.
£3k underbudget on transport.
£5k underbudget on supplies and services.
£19k underachieved income.

18 18

Service 
Management

Service 
Management

£1k under on transport
£3k overbudget on supplies and services 2 2

Housing 
Benefit Housing Benefit Balance on Discretionary Housing payments 49 49

TOTAL    (1,378)

8. The final outturn position was £0.430 million more underbudget than the 
forecast pepared at Quarter 3 and reported to Cabinet in March. The £1.378 
million underbudget will be carried forward under the ‘cash limit’ regime.

Capital Programme

9. The original Resources capital programme was £16.228 million and this has 
been revised for additions/reductions, budget transfers and budget profiling 
between years. The revised budget was £6.309 million.

10. Summary financial performance to the end of March 2018 is shown below: 

Final 
Annual 
Budget
2017/18

Actual 
Spend Spend

 £000 £000 %
ICT Services Include Design and Print 4,946 4,207        85 
Corporate Finance & Commercial Service 
and Finance and Transactional Services 1,363 1,290 95 

Total 6,309 5,497 87 

11. Total expenditure to 31 March 2018 was £5.497 million (87% of the annual 
budget). A full breakdown of schemes and actual expenditure to 31 March 2018 
is given in Appendix 2.

Page 93



6

Recommendations:

12. The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is requested to note 
the contents of this report.

Contact:   Ian Herberson              Tel:  03000 261 861

Page 94



7

Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an analysis of 
the revenue and capital outturn. 

Staffing

None.

Risk

None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Accommodation

None.

Crime and disorder

None.

Human rights

None.

Consultation

None.

Procurement

None. The outcome of procurement activity is factored into the financial projections 
included in the report.

Disability Issues

None.

Legal Implications

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
Councils Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report shows the 
actual spend against budgets agreed by Council in February 2017 in relation to the 
2017/18 financial year.

Page 95



8

Appendix 2:  Resources Capital Programme 2017/18 - Detailed Monitoring 
Statement to 31 March, 2018 

Resources Revised 
Annual 
Budget

Actual Spend Spend

 2017/18 31/3/18
 £000 £000 %
Broadband / Digital Durham  1,807 1,632            90 
Code of Connection Compliance 40 10   25 
Corporate Mail Fulfilment 44 46 105 
Dark Fibre installations and Circuit/Microwave Upgrades 125 118 94 
Email Upgrade 86 - 0
Homeworking 235 151 64 
Learning Gateway 74 60 81 
Mobile Device Management 360 7   2 
Ongoing Server replacement 245 229 93 
Replacement of Desktop ICT Equipment 1,091 1,065 98 
Tanfield Datacentre Core Swiching Replacement 1  -    0 
Tanfield Datacentre LAN Switching Replacement 65 30 46
Applications and Development 16 -   0 
Conversion of Capita One Software to Tribal 48 144 300
Schools Web Filtering Project 240 246 103
RES - Customer Relation Management System 391 393 101 
Wireless Network Replacement 79 77 97
ICT Services Include Design and Print Total 4,947 4,208 85 
Migration of HR/Payroll functionality 556 555 100
Civica Pension Fund Administration System 207 135 65
Open Revenues/Fraud & ICON System 600 600 100   
RES - Financing Resources Total 1,363 1,290 95
RES Total 6,310 5,498 87

Page 96



1 

 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 
 
14 September 2018  
 
Transformation and Partnerships –
Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 
 

 

 
 

Joint Report of Corporate Director Resources and Director of 
Transformation and Partnerships 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1. To provide details of the outturn budget position for the Transformation 
and Partnerships (TAP) service grouping, highlighting any major 
variances in comparison with the budget based on the outturn position at 
the end of March 2018.  

Background 

2. County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2017/18 
at its meeting on 22 February 2017. These budgets have subsequently 
been revised to account for grant additions/reductions, budget transfers 
between service groupings and budget reprofiling between years. This 
report covers the financial position for the following major accounts 
maintained by the TAP service grouping: 

 
a) TAP Revenue Budget - £11.918 million (original £8.716 million) 
b) TAP Capital Programme – £3.680 million (original £4.149 million) 

 

3. The original TAP budget has been revised to incorporate a number of 
budget adjustments since the original budget was approved in February, 
details as follows: 

 
a) Transfer into TAP former CAS – Unitisation – £1.094 million 
b) Transfer into TAP from REAL Culture & Sport – Unitisation –  

£14,000 
c) Transfer into TAP from REAL PPP – Unitisation –  £0.192 million 
d) Transfer into TAP from former RED PPP – Unitisation –  £0.713 

million 
e) Transfer into TAP from Contingencies £10,000 –  Removal of 

income for internal recharges (website) 
f) Use of Durham Ask Reserve - £75,000 
g) Use of AAP Reserve (Welfare Assistance) - £0.172 million 
h) Use of AAP Reserve (CCG) - £34,000 
i) Use of AAP Reserve (Health Champions) - £0.158 million 
j) Use of AAP Reserve - Public Health - £12,000 
k) Use of Flood Co-Ordinator Reserve- £73,000 
l) Use of Community Reserve - £15,000 

Page 97



2 

m) To Community Led Development Reserve - £9,000 
n) Use of Disabled Go Reserve - £8,000 
o) Use of Inspire Reserve -  £0.345 million 
p) Use of Customer Focus Reserve - £66,000 
q) Use of Modern Ways of Working Reserve - £20,000 
r) Use of Contingencies - £8,000 
s) Use of Inspire Reserve - £22,000 
t) Use of Social Care Reserve - £8,000 
u) Use of MTFP Redundancy Reserve - £0.216 million 
v) Use of Contingencies - £2,000 
w) Transfer into TAP from CYPS – Youth Work Support Grants – 

£0.139 million 
x) To Cash Limit reserve - £44,000 
y) To Youth Work Support Reserve - £0.139 million 

 
The final revised General Fund Budget was £11.918 million. 

 
4. The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the financial 

year 2017/18 and show:- 
 

a) The approved annual budget; 
 

b) The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s financial 
management system; 
 

c) The variance between the annual budget and the actual outturn; 
 

d) For the TAP revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the cash 
limit to take into account such items as redundancies met from the 
strategic reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and use of / 
or contributions to earmarked reserves. 

 

Revenue Outturn 2017/18 
 

5. The service is reporting a cash limit overspend of £0.134 million against 
a revised budget of £11.918 million. The forecast outturn position at 
quarter 3 was a cash limit overspend of £0.282 million. This represents 
an improvement and a reduction of £0.148 million when compared with 
the quarter 3 forecast. 

 

6. The tables below compare the actual expenditure with the budget. The 
first table is analysed by Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense), and 
the second by Head of Service. 

 
  

Page 98



3 

 

Subjective Analysis (£000’s) 
 

Subjective Analysis 
Annual 
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance 

Items 
Outside 

Cash 
Limit 

Final 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance 

Employees 10,121 10,727 606 -206 400 
Premises 319 357 38 -40 -2 
Transport 67 40 -27 7 -20 
Supplies and Services 1,970 1,880 -90 27 -63 
Agency and Contracted 146 149 3 -7 -4 
Transfer Payments 1,848 1,767 -81 98 17 
Central Costs 2,325 4,233 1,908 -935 973 
GROSS EXPENDITURE 16,796 19,153 2,357 -1,056 1,301 
INCOME -4,878 -6,157 -1,279 112 -1,167 
NET EXPENDITURE 11,918 12,996 1,078 -944 134 

 
 
Analysis by Head of Service (£000’s) 
 

Head of Service 
Annual 
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance 

Items 
Outside 

Cash 
Limit 

Final 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance 

T&P MTFP (Managed Savings) -379 0 379 0 379 
Partnership and  Community Engagement 7,259 8,186 927 -950 -23 
Strategy 2,596 2,386 -210 101 -109 
Comms & Information Management 3,218 3,397 179 -258 -79 
Transformation 869 816 -53 24 -29 
Central -1,645 -1,789 -144 139 -5 

 NET EXPENDITURE 11,918 12,996 1,078 -944 134 

 
 
7. The table below provides a brief commentary on the variances against 

the revised budget, analysed by individual Head of Service. The table 
identifies variances in the core budget only and excludes items outside of 
the cash limit (e.g. central repairs and maintenance) and technical 
accounting adjustments (e.g. capital charges):  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



4 

 

Head of Service Service Area Description 

Forecast 
Year End 
(Under) / 

overspend 
£’000 

T&P MTFP (Managed Savings) 
Service Grouping 
Management 

The previously planned 
restructure of the former 
ACE service grouping has 
been delayed following the 
unitisation of services into 
TAP. A larger restructure, 
incorporating both the 
2017/18 and 2018/19 
savings targets is now well 
progressed across the new 
TAP service grouping. This 
has resulted in a delay in 
achieving £379k of the 
2017/18 MTFP savings. The 
net overspend as a result of 
the savings delay is fully 
covered by the use 
managed underspends and 
the TAP cash limit reserve. 

379 
 

Partnership and Community 
Engagement (PACE) 

Area Action Partnerships 
Community Buildings 
PACE 
 

Managed underspend of 
£23k, mostly on employees 
and supplies & services 

(£23) 

    

Strategy 

 
Service Management, 
Research & Equalities, 
Scrutiny & Performance, 
Policy & Planning 

Managed underspend of 
£109k , mostly on 
employees. 

(109) 

Comms & Information Management 

Communications & 
Marketing, County 
Records, Information 
Management, Civil 
Contingencies Unit, 
Public Relations 

Managed underspend of 
£79k mostly on employees 
and additional income 

(79) 

Transformation Transformation 

Managed underspend of 
£29k on employees, 
supplies & services and 
additional income 

(29) 

Central Central costs No material variances (5) 

TOTAL   134 

 
 

Page 100



5 

8. In summary, the service grouping did not maintain its spending in line 
with its cash limit this year. This is due to a planned delay in the 
restructure of the former Assistant Chief Executives Service Grouping, 
which was delayed following the unitisation of services into TAP, with a 
larger restructure, incorporating 2018/19 savings targets, now 
implemented.  

 
Members Neighbourhoods Revenue Budget 
 
9. The Members Initiative Fund has been merged with the Members 

Neighbourhoods Revenue budget.  
 
10. An MTFP saving of £0.330 million was applied as a reduction in the 

individual Members’ allocation from £6,000 to £3,400 this year.  
 
11. During 2017/18 each elected member received an annual allocation of 

£19,400; £5,400 (including £2,000 from the former Members’ Initiatives 
Fund) revenue and £14,000 capital. The revenue budget allocation for 
2016/17 was £0.680 million. Previous years unspent allocations totalling 
£1.047 million were held in an earmarked reserve. At 31 March 2018, 
£1.472 million was either spent or committed. The remaining budget is 
held in an earmarked reserve. 

 
 
AAP Area Budgets 
 
12. Each of the 14 Area Action Partnerships (AAP) had an annual allocation 

of £100,000; £76,000 revenue and £24,000 capital. The revenue budget 
allocation for 2017/18 was £1.064 million. Previous years unspent 
allocations totalling £0.875 million were held in an earmarked reserve. At 
31 March a total of £1.693 million was either committed or spent. The 
remaining budget is held in an earmarked reserve. 

 
Capital Programme 
 

13. The TAP capital programme comprises four main schemes, Assets in the 
Community, Area Action Partnerships Capital, Members Neighbourhoods 
Capital and Community Facilities in Crook. 

 

14. The TAP capital programme was revised to take into account the 
2016/17 outturn position, where unspent budget was transferred from 
2016/17. This increased the 2017/18 budget to £4.149m. Further 
revisions were approved at MOWG in December 2017 and the revised 
budget stood at £3.680m.   
 

Page 101



6 

15. Summary financial performance to the end of March 2018 is shown 
below: 

 
Service Original 

Annual  
Budget 
2017/18 

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 
2017/18 

Actual 
Spend to 31 

March 

Spend 

  £000 £000 £000 % 
Assets in the Community 1,018 343 101 29 
Area Action Partnership 342 475 339 71 
Members Neighbourhoods 2,379 2,427 888 37 
Community Facilities Crook 344 344 337 98 
AAP Initiatives 66 91 27 30 
Total 4,149 3,680 1,692 46 

 
16. £1.692 million of actual expenditure has been incurred during 2017/18. 

This is 46% of the revised capital budget. The reaming capital budget 
has been reprofiled to 2018/19. 

 
Recommendations: 

17. The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is requested 
to note and comment on the contents of this report. 

 

 

Contact:   Ian Herberson – Finance Manager                                      Tel:  03000 261861 
  

Page 102



7 

Appendix 1:  Implications 
 
Finance 
 
Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an 
analysis of the revenue and capital outturn position.  
 
Staffing 
 
None. 
 
Risk 
None. 
 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None. 
 
 
Accommodation 
 
None. 
 
Crime and disorder 
 
None. 
 
Human rights 
 
None. 
 
Consultation 
 
None. 
 
Procurement 
 
None. 
 
Disability Issues 
 
None. 
 
Legal Implications 
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

14 September 2018 

Resources – Quarter 1 June 2018: 
Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2018/19 
 

Report of Corporate Director of Resources

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide details of the forecast outturn budget position for the Resources 
service grouping highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget 
based on the position to the end of June 2018. 

Background

2. County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2018/19 at its 
meeting on 21 February 2018. These budgets have subsequently been revised 
to account for grant additions/reductions, corporate savings/adjustments, 
budget transfers between service groupings and budget profiling between 
years. This report covers the financial position for the following major accounts 
maintained by the Resources service grouping:

a) Revenue Budget - £15.777 million (original £15.635 million)
b) Capital Programme - £8.697 million (original £6.998 million)

3. The original Resources General Fund budget has been revised in year to 
incorporate a number of budget adjustments as follows:

£,000
a) Transfer from Corporate – Additional Resource to Support 

Commercialisation and Workforce Development 109
b) Transfer from CYPS – Additional post in CYPS Finance 31
c) Transfer from RES-CAC – Budget Realignment 6
d) Transfer to Corporate – MFD Saving -4

The revised General Fund Budget now stands at £15.777 million.

4. The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the financial year 
2018/19 and show: -

a) The approved annual budget;

b) The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s financial 
management system;

c) The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn;

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



2

d) For the Resources revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the 
cash limit to take into account such items as redundancies met from the 
strategic reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and use of / or 
contributions to earmarked reserves.

5. The service is reporting a cash limit variance (underspend) of £0.496 million 
against a revised budget of £15.777 million. 

6. The tables below compare the actual expenditure with the budget. The first 
table is analysed by Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense), and the second 
by Head of Service.

Subjective Analysis (£000’s)

Category

Full Year 
CURR 

budget-
Revised

YTD 
Actual 

Forecast 
of 

outturn Variance

 Total 
Items 

Outside  
Cash 
Limit 

 Final 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance 
Employees 44,745 10,814 44,775 30 (208) (178)
Premises 4,954 103 4,942 (12) 0 (12)
Transport 627 168 616 (11) 0 (11)
Supplies and Services 15,707 6,060 15,277 (430) 219 (211)
Third Party Payments 40 2 40 0 0 0
Central Support and 
Capital 5,985 67 6,066 81 0 81
Gross Expenditure 72,058 17,214 71,716 (342) 11 (331)
Income (56,281) (10,830) (56,446) (165) 0 (165)
Net Expenditure 15,777 6,384 15,270 (507) 11 (496)
HB Transfer payments 174,733 41,407 174,733 0 0 0
HB Central Support 
and Capital 400 0 400 0 0 0
HB Income (175,133) (676) (175,133) 0 0 0
HB Net Expenditure 0 40,731 0 0 0 0
Total Net 
Expenditure 15,777 47,115 15,270 (507) 11 (496)

Page 106



3

By Head of Service (£000’s)

Category

Full Year 
CURR 

budget-
Revised

YTD 
Actual Forecast Variance

 Total 
Items 

Outside  
Cash 
Limit 

 Final 
Cash 
Limit 

Variance 
Central Establishment 
Recharges (24,216) 0 (24,216) 0 0 0
Corporate Finance & 
Commercial Services 3,526 1,031 3,520 (6) 0 (6)
Financial & 
Transactional Services 10,186 (335) 10,434 248 (179) 69
Digital & Customer 
Services 16,992 3,318 16,679 (313) 190 (123)
Internal Audit and 
Insurance 1,065 228 1,093 28 0 28
Legal & Democratic 
Services 7,440 1,986 6,965 (475) 0 (475)
Service Management / 
Central Charges (650) 52 (651) (1) 0 (1)
People & Talent 
Management 1,434 104 1,446 12 0 12

Net Expenditure 
Excluding HB 15,777 6,384 15,270 (507) 11 (496)
Housing Benefit 0 40,730 0 0 0 0
Net expenditure    15,777 47,114 15,270 (507) 11 (496)

7. The table below provides a brief commentary on the variances against the 
revised budget analysed by Head of Service. The table identifies variances in 
the core budget only and excludes items outside of the cash limit (e.g. 
redundancy costs) and technical accounting adjustments (e.g. capital charges): 

Head of Service Service Area Description Year End 
(Under) / 
overbudget
£000's

Year End 
(Under) / 
overbudget 
£000's

Central 
Establishment 
Recharges

Central 
Establishment 
Recharges

No material variance 0 0

Management £1k underbudget on 
employees
 
 

(1)

Management 
Priority

No material variance 0 

Financial 
Systems

£49k underbudget on 
employees
 

(49)

Procurement £12k overbudget on 
employees

12 

 
 

Corporate Finance 
& Commercial 
Services

Pensions No material variance
 

0 

Page 107



4

Head of Service Service Area Description Year End 
(Under) / 
overbudget
£000's

Year End 
(Under) / 
overbudget 
£000's

Strategic Finance £32k overbudget on 
employees

32

Occupational 
Health

£14k underbudget on 
employees

(14)

Health and 
Safety

£14k overbudget on 
employees

14 

(6)
People & Talent 
Management

People & Talent 
Management

£12k overbudget on 
employees 12 12 

Management No material variance 0 
Management 
Priority

No material variance 0 

Operations & 
Data

£71k overbudget on 
employees

71 

Financial 
Management

£32k overbudget on 
employees

32 

Finance & 
Transactional 
Services

Revenues and 
Benefits

£34k underbudget on 
employees 

(34)
 69

Customer 
Services

£14k overbudget on 
employees 
£3k overbudget on premises
£7k underbudget on 
transport                                                     
£57k underbudget on 
supplies and services                               
£16k underachived on 
income

(31)Digital and 
Customer Services

ICT Services £73k underbudget on 
employees
£9k overbudget on transport 
£152k underbudget on 
supplies and services
£81k overbudget on central 
expenses 
£43k underachieved on 
income.

(92)

(123)
Insurance and 
Risk

£4k overbudget on 
employees                                                   
£2k overbudget on Supplies 
and Services

6 

Internal Audit £17k overbudget on 
employees

17 

Internal Audit and 
Risk

Corporate Fraud £5k overbudget on 
employees

5  
 
28

Legal and 
Democratic 
Services

Corporate and 
Democratic Core

£45k underbudget on 
employees 
£10k underbudget on 
transport 
£132k underbudget on 
supplies and services
£17k overachieved income

(204)  

Page 108



5

Head of Service Service Area Description Year End 
(Under) / 
overbudget
£000's

Year End 
(Under) / 
overbudget 
£000's

Legal and Other 
Services

£67k underbudget on 
employees                                                
£15k underbudget on 
premises
£12k underbudget on 
transport 
£40k underbudget on 
supplies and services
£136k overachieved income

(271)

(475)

Service 
Management

Service 
Management

£1k underbudget on 
employees

(1) (1)

 Benefits 
Payments and 
Subsidy

 Benefits   0 0

TOTAL    (496)

8. In summary, the service grouping is on track to maintain spending within its 
cash limit. 

Capital Programme

9. The original Resources capital programme was £6.998 million and this has 
been revised for additions/reductions, budget transfers and budget profiling. 
The revised budget now stands at £8.697 million

10. Summary financial performance to the end of June 2018 is shown below: 

Original 
Annual 
Budget
2018/19

Revised 
Annual 
Budget
2018/19
(June 

MOWG)

Profiled 
Budget 
2018/19

Actual 
Spend 

30/06/2018

Remaining 
Budget

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Digital & Customer Services            6,871 
        

8,520 853         1,817         6,703 
Corporate Finance & Commercial 
Services and Finance & 
Transactional Services 117 

           
177 18 29 148 

Total            6,998 
        

8,697 871 1,846         6,851

11. The revised Resources capital budget is £8.697 million with a total expenditure 
to 30 June 2018 of £1.846 million (21%). The profiled budget for this period is 
£0.871 million, therefore spend is above profiled / expected spend in the year to 
date. A full breakdown of schemes and actual expenditure to 30 June 2018 is 
given in Appendix 2

12. At year end the actual outturn performance will be compared against the 
revised budgets and at that time service and project managers will need to 
account for any budget variance. 

Page 109



6

Recommendations:

13. The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is requested to note 
the contents of this report.

Contact:   Ian Herberson              Tel:  03000 261 861

Page 110



7

Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an analysis of 
the revenue and capital projected outturn position alongside details of balance sheet 
items such as earmarked reserves held by the service grouping to support its 
priorities. 

Staffing

None.

Risk

None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty

None.

Accommodation

None.

Crime and disorder

None.

Human rights

None.

Consultation

None.

Procurement

The outcome of procurement activity is factored into the financial projections included 
in the report.

Disability Issues

None.

Legal Implications

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
Councils Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report shows the 
forecastl spend against budgets agreed by Council in February 2018 in relation to the 
2018/19 financial year.

Page 111



8

Appendix 2:  Resources Capital Programme 2018/19 - Detailed Monitoring 
Statement to 30 June 2018 
Resources Revised 

Annual 
Budget

Profiled 
Budget

Actual 
Spend

Remaining 
Budget

 2018/19 2018/19 30/06/18

 £000 £000 £000 £000

Big Data                149              15              -              149 

Broadband / Digital Durham              3,824            382            668         3,156 

Code of Connection Compliance                  25                2              -                25 

Dark Fibre installations and Circuit/Microwave Upgrades                  29                3                6              23 

Email Upgrade                  86                9              -                86 

Homeworking                727              73              37            690 

ICT Business Continuity                530              53            453              77 

Mobile Device Management                353              35              -              353 

Ongoing Server replacement                261              26            260                1 

Replacement of Desktop ICT Equipment              1,335            134            374            961 

Sharepoint Architecture                  23                2              -                23 

Tanfield Datacentre LAN Switching Replacement                  65                7              -                65 

Applications and Development                  16                2              -                16 

Archiving Of Obsolete Systems Based On Non Supported Hardware                200              20              -              200 

RES - Customer Relation Management System                897              90              19            878 

Digital & Customer Services Total              8,520            853         1,817         6,703 

Migration of HR/Payroll functionality                105              11              28              77 

Civica Pension Fund Administration System                  72                7                1              71 

Open Revenues/Fraud & ICON System                   -                -                -                -   

Corporate Finance & Commercial Services and Financial & Transactional 
Services Total

               177              18              29            148 

RES Total 8,697 871 1,846 6,851

Page 112



1

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

14 September 2018 

Transformation and Partnerships –
Quarter 1 June 2018: Forecast of 
Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19

Joint Report of Corporate Director Resources and Director of 
Transformation and Partnerships

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide details of the forecast outturn budget position for the Transformation 
and Partnerships (TAP) service grouping, highlighting any major variances in 
comparison with the budget based on the position to the end of June 2018.

Background

2. County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2018/19 at its 
meeting on 21 February 2018. These budgets have subsequently been revised 
to account for grant additions/reductions, budget transfers between service 
groupings and budget reprofiling between years.  This report covers the financial 
position for the following major accounts maintained by the TAP service 
grouping:

a) TAP Revenue Budget - £12,083 million (original £11.944 million)
b) TAP Capital Programme – £5.540 million (original £5.084 million)

3. The original TAP budget has been revised to incorporate the following budget 
adjustment since the original budget was approved in February :

a) Transfer into TAP from CYPS – Youth Work Support Grants – £0.139 
million.

The revised General Fund Budget now stands at £12.083 million.

4. The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the financial year 
2018/19 and show:-

a) The approved annual budget;

b) The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s financial 
management system;

c) The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn;

d) For the TAP revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the cash limit 
to take into account such items as redundancies met from the strategic 

Page 113



2

reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and use of / or 
contributions to earmarked reserves.

Forecast Revenue Outturn 2018/19

5. The service is reporting a cash limit underspend of £70,000 against a revised 
budget of £12.083 million.

6. The tables below compare the actual expenditure with the budget. The first table 
is analysed by Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense), and the second by 
Head of Service.

Subjective Analysis (£000’s)

Subjective Analysis Annual 
Budget

YTD 
Actual

Forecast 
Outturn Variance

Items 
Outside 

Cash 
Limit

Cash 
Limit 

Variance

Employees 10,178 2,722 10,491 313 -289 24
Premises 247 16 240 -7 0 -7
Transport 62 12 61 -1 0 -1
Supplies and Services 2,113 466 2,102 -11 0 -11
Agency and Contracted 280 1 144 -136 139 3
Transfer Payments 1,443 466 1,443 0 0 0
Central Costs 2,345 45 2,345 0 0 0
GROSS EXPENDITURE 16,668 3,728 16,826 158 -150 8
INCOME -4,585 -971 -4,663 -78 0 -78
NET EXPENDITURE 12,083 2,757 12,163 80 -150 -70

Analysis by Head of Service (£000’s)

Head of Service Annual 
Budget

YTD 
Actual

Forecast 
Outturn Variance

Items 
Outside 

Cash 
Limit

Cash 
Limit 

Variance

Partnership and  Community Engagement 6,776 990 6,700 -76 39 -37
Strategy 2,322 630 2,384 62 -90 -28
Comms & Information Management 2,766 824 2,899 133 -99 34
Transformation 1,468 313 1,429 -39 0 -39
Central -1,249 0 -1,249 0 0 0
 NET EXPENDITURE 12,083 2,757 12,163 80 -150 -70

7. The table below provides a brief commentary on the variances against the 
revised budget, analysed by individual Head of Service. The table identifies 
variances in the core budget only and excludes items outside of the cash limit 
(e.g. central repairs and maintenance) and technical accounting adjustments 
(e.g. capital charges): 

Page 114



3

Head of Service Service Area Description
Forecast Year 
End (Under) / 
Overspend

Partnership and Community 
Engagement (PACE)

Area Action 
Partnerships,,Community 
Buildings, PACE

£37k managed underspend, 
mostly on employees. (37)

Strategy

Service Management
Research and Equalities
Scrutiny & Performance
Policy & Planning

£28k managed underspend, 
mostly on employees.
 

(28)

Communications & 
Information Management

Communications & 
Marketing
County Records
Information Management
Civil Contingencies Unit

34k managed overspend, mostly 
on income. 34

Transformation Corporate Improvement 
Programme

£39k managed underspend on 
employees (39)

Central Central Costs No material variances. 0

TOTAL   (70)

Page 115



4

8. In summary, the service grouping is forecast to maintain its spending in line with 
its cash limit this year. The forecast underspend of £70,000 takes into account the 
restructure of the former Assistant Chief Executives Service Grouping which was 
delayed following the unitisation of services into TAP. As a result the full effect of 
the savings won’t be achieved in the current financial year. An amount of £0.188 
million has been drawn from the TAP Cash Limit Reserve to cover the shortfall. 

Members Neighbourhoods Revenue Budget

9. Each elected member receives an annual allocation of £19,400; £5,400 
(including £2,000 from the former Members’ Initiatives Fund) revenue and 
£14,000 capital. 

10. The revenue budget allocation for the current year is £0.680 million. Previous 
years unspent allocations totalling £0.746 million are held in an earmarked 
reserve. At 30 June 2018, £0.613 million of the total budget allocation of £1.426 
million has been either spent or committed and it is expected that the remaining 
budget will be allocated during the remainder of the year.  

11. There is a remaining balance of £4,246 held in an earmarked reserve in respect 
of the former Members Initiative Fund. 

AAP Area Budgets

12. Each of the 14 Area Action Partnerships (AAP) has an annual allocation of 
£100,000; £76,000 revenue and £24,000 capital. 

13. The revenue budget allocation for the current year is £1.064 million (see 
Appendix 3) to develop projects to meet the agreed AAP priorities. 

14. Previous years unspent allocations totalling £0.762 million are held in an 
earmarked reserve. At 30 June a total of £0.658 million has either been 
committed or spent and it is expected that the remaining £1.168 million will be 
committed later in the year.

Capital Programme

15. The TAP capital programme comprises six main schemes, Assets in the 
Community, Area Action Partnerships Capital, Members Neighbourhoods 
Capital, Community Facilities in Crook, Community Facilities in Consett, and 
Durham History Centre.

16. The TAP capital programme has been revised to take into account the 2017/18 
outturn position, where unspent budget was transferred from 2017/18. The 
budget agreed at MOWG in June 2018 now stands at £5.540m.  

Page 116



5

17. Summary financial performance to the end of June is shown below:

Service Original 
Annual 
Budget 
2018/19

Revised 
Annual 
Budget
2018/19

Actual 
Spend to 30 

June

Remaining 
Budget

 £000 £000 £000 £000
Assets in the Community 1,012 1,012 64 948
Area Action Partnership 474 545 82 463
Members Neighbourhoods 3,043 3,428 274 3,154
Community Facilities Crook 7 7 0 7
Community Facilities Consett 200 200 0 200
Durham History Centre 200 200 0 200
AAP Initiatives 148 148 3 145
Total 5,084 5,540 423 5,117

18. Officers continue to carefully monitor capital expenditure on a monthly basis. 
£0.423 million of actual expenditure has been incurred to date. This is 8% of the 
total estimated spend in the year.

19. At year end the actual outturn performance will be compared against the revised 
budgets and service and project managers will need to account for any budget 
variance. 

Recommendations:

20. The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is requested to note 
the contents of this report.

Contact:   Ian Herberson – Finance Manager                                      Tel:  03000 261861

Page 117



6

Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an analysis of 
the revenue and capital projected outturn position.

Staffing

None.

Risk

None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty

None.

Accommodation

None.

Crime and disorder

None.

Human rights

None.

Consultation

None.

Procurement

None.

Disability Issues

None.

Legal Implications

Page 118



Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board

14 September 2018

Update in relation to Petitions

Report of Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide for information the quarterly update in relation to the current 
situation regarding various petitions received by the Authority.

Background

2. Following the introduction of The Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009, the administration of the 
petitions process was passed to Democratic Services.

 
2.1 Overview and Scrutiny Management Board have received update 

reports on petitions since September 2008, and this function has now 
passed to the new committee.

2.2 From the 15 December 2010, the Authority has provided a facility for 
members of the public to submit e-petitions on the Council’s website.

Current Position

3 Since the last update 3 e-petitions have been submitted and 2 were 
rejected as the Council were not the responsible body. 

  
3.1 In addition, 5 new paper petitions have been submitted and 3 have 

completed the petition process.   A list giving details and current status 
of all active petitions is attached as Appendix 2 to the report. 

Recommendation

4. Members are requested to note the update report on the status of 
petitions and e-petitions received by the Authority. 

Contact: Ros Layfield, Committee Services, Member and Civic 
Services Manager

Tel: 03000 269 708  E-mail: ros.layfield@durham.gov.uk

Page 119

Agenda Item 9



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance :  None

Staffing: None

Risk: None

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty: None

Accommodation: None

Crime and Disorder: None

Human Rights: None

Consultation:  Petitions which refer to a consultation exercise are reported to 
committee for information and forwarded to the relevant officer for 
consideration

Procurement: None

Disability Issues: None

Legal Implications:  None

Page 120



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

Petition 322

Skatepark for Ushaw Moor

E-Petition
No. of signatures – 98
Petition received – 
18.11.17

Stephen Howell
Head of Culture and Sport

Petition asking the Council to build a skatepark for the residents 
of Ushaw Moor.

e-petition ran from 18.11.17 – 1.6.18 and closed with 98 
signatures

The Council review of play provision which was approved by 
Cabinet on the 15th July 2015 places Ushaw Moor in category 
C’ for play provision i.e. 

‘Type ‘C’ - Children and young people numbers are within 
501/999 

Items of equipment suitable for all ages to include teenage 
provision. These provide for social interaction as well as 
activities such as skateboarding, trim trails, BMX bikes and ball 
court space. In some cases they may consist solely of a ‘youth 
shelter’ in an appropriate open area. These areas do not include 
provision for motorised sports.

Therefore the review would support the development of a skate 
park or similar provision for young people. Officers would need 
to work with Elected Members and the community in order to 
identify opportunities for funding the development which is likely 
to cost a minimum of £80,000. Whilst there is no guarantee that 
such levels of funding can be obtained the Council would be 
willing to offer up land and maintain a park built to the correct 
specifications.

Petition CLOSED

P
age 121



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

Petition 341

Give way chicanes on 
West Chilton Way

E-Petition
Petition received – 
27.06.18
No. of signatures – 123

Keith Jameson
Traffic and Streetworks 
Manager

Petition asking the Council to install give way chicanes on West 
Chilton Way to reduce speed on the road between Chilton 
Bypass Roundabout and St Aidan’s Church Roundabout.

e-petition ran from 27 June 2018 to 8 August 2018 and collected 
123 signatures

The County Council receive more requests for traffic 
management solutions than it is able to fund from limited road 
safety budgets. Due to the need to concentrate resources on 
reducing casualty accidents, the Council is required to direct its 
limited funding towards addressing locations with the worst 
accident records. 
Having checked the accident recording database shared with 
Durham Constabulary, no recorded ‘personal injury’ accidents 
between the A167 Chilton Bypass Roundabout and St Aidan’s 
Church Roundabout in the past 4 years this being our standard 
search criteria. Compared to many other locations within the 
County, this represents a favourable accident record.
As part of the partnership approach to improving road safety, 
joint working with Durham Constabulary, has enabled the 
introduction of an initiative known as ‘Community Speed Watch’. 
This initiative has been very successful elsewhere in the County 
and nationally.
Under the Community Speed Watch initiative, all speeding 
complaints are directed towards Durham Constabulary and their 
Police and Communities Together (PACT) Meetings, enabling 
the appropriate level of intervention and action to be considered.

Petition CLOSED

P
age 122



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

Petition 343

Speed restrictions on 
Ruddock Avenue, Bishop 
Auckland

Petition received – 
13.07.18
No. of signatures - 37

Keith Jameson
Traffic and Streetworks 
Manager

Petition asking the Council to address the speed restrictions on 
Ruddock Avenue, Bishop Auckland.

Road Safety Scheme
The Council receives more requests for road safety schemes 
than they are able to fund from the limited road safety budgets. 
Therefore, schemes have to be prioritised where there are 
proven issues with serious personal injury accidents.

Having checked the accident recording database shared with 
Durham Constabulary, no ‘personal injury’ accidents on the road 
in the past 4 years, this being the standard search criteria. 
Therefore, a road safety scheme at this location at this time 
cannot be justified.

Compared to many other locations within the county, this 
represents a favourable accident record and therefore the 
limited road safety budgets at locations with a proven record of 
serious personal injury accidents would be prioritised.

Speed Limit
The current 30mph speed limit is the typical limit set in 
residential areas such as Ruddock Avenue and is considered a 
credible speed limit for this location. Ruddock Avenue is only 
160 metres in length with on-street parking which helps to 
moderate vehicle speeds.

Community Speed Watch
As part of the partnership approach to improving road safety, 
joint working with Durham Constabulary, has enabled the 
introduction of an initiative known as ‘Community Speed Watch’. 
This initiative has been very successful elsewhere in the County 
and nationally.

Petition CLOSED

P
age 123



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

Under the Community Speed Watch initiative, all speeding 
complaints are directed towards Durham Constabulary and their 
Police and Communities Together (PACT) Meetings, enabling 
the appropriate level of intervention and action to be considered.

Petition 344
Pedestrian Crossing on 
A167 Chester Moor

Petition received – 16.7.18
No. of signatures – 277

David Battensby
Traffic Asset Senior 
Engineer

Petition asking the Council to provide a pedestrian crossing on 
A167 at Chester Moor.

DCC understand that the community were concerned about the 
lack of crossing on the A167 at Chester Moor, and that as a 
consequence of large flows of traffic and platooning of vehicles it 
can be difficult to find opportunities to cross. It is acknowledged 
that the A167 has run through the settlement since the 
properties were constructed on the western side of the road and 
that pedestrians have to cross the road in order to access bus 
services.  DCC have therefore taken this into account when 
carrying out our investigations and assessments of the potential 
to introduce a crossing.

These concerns have been taken seriously and a 
comprehensive investigation had been undertaken, with a 
detailed report produced examining all the possible options and 
issues.  The report has been expanded further to ensure it 
covers as far as practicable all the issues raised in the petition.  

The volume of pedestrians crossing at this location is low 
although it is accepted that some pedestrians may be deterred 
from crossing due to the lack of pedestrian crossing facilities.

The accident record associated with pedestrian movements at 
Chester Moor is very good and significantly below a level which 
would justify the prioritisation of the Council’s limited road safety 

Petition CLOSED

P
age 124



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

resources. Such resources are prioritised towards those 
locations which have proven existing accident issues where 
engineering measures will reduce the risk of accidents. 

The findings of the assessment for a formalised crossing are 
that a signalised crossing cannot be justified under Department 
for Transport guidance (regardless of available funding) at 
Chester Moor as it would be unsafe due to the low volume of 
pedestrians and the high speed of traffic. 

The provision of a formalised crossing that does not meet 
Department for Transport guidance would give pedestrians a 
false sense of security and expose them to an increased risk of 
a serious or fatal accident.

A footbridge or subway crossing are both technically feasible. 
However, these options are very costly and there is no realistic 
prospect of obtaining funding for them. Therefore, unfortunately 
for the above reasons the Council is unable to provide a 
crossing at this location.

Petition 345
Vandalism at Bishop 
Auckland Cemetery

Petition received – 25.7.18
No. of signatures – 156

Ian Hoult
Neighbourhood Protection 
Manager

Petition asking the Council to address vandalism at Bishop 
Auckland Cemetery.

Update received from the Neighbourhood Protection Manager:-

There have been works previously to improve the site following 
an incident in 2017 which included a new chain-link, post and 
rail, and wrought iron fencing; road resurfacing; new security 
chains; removal of large bushes; and several repairs to the 
cemetery’s water taps. The main gates are locked on a night to 
prevent vehicles accessing the cemetery.

Over the past weeks there have been reports via local 
Councillors which the Police are investigating. 

Ongoing

P
age 125



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

A meeting was held with representatives from the police and 
community to look at what practical options could be undertaken 
to prevent or reduce further incidents.

It was agreed that collectively to:
- continue with Police and Neighbourhood Warden Patrols
- carry out landscaping work, including alterations to    
bushes, lifting the crowns on trees 
- provide covers for bins.
- meet with relatives in the cemetery to further discuss 
their concerns.
- Durham Constabulary will carry out a crime prevention 
survey to provide advice for the group for their consideration 
(e.g. CCTV, fencing, locking gates etc)

DCC are continuing to take steps to try and prevent these acts in 
the cemetery, but at this stage it remains unclear who is carrying 
them out.

Petition 346

Traffic Management at 
Trimdon Station

Petition received – 7.8.18
No. of signatures – 110

David Battensby
Traffic Asset Senior 
Engineer

Petition asking the Council to address traffic management 
issues at Trimdon Station, to install traffic calming measures in 
Thornley Road and Station Road.

Road Safety Schemes
The Council receives more requests for road safety schemes 
than are able to fund from our limited road safety budgets.  
Therefore, DCC have to prioritise schemes where there are 
proven issues with personal injury accidents.

Having checked the accident recording database shared with 
Durham Constabulary, there has been 1 ‘personal injury’ 
accident on Thornley Road and Station Road in the past 4 years 
this being our standard search criteria.  This incident was 

Petition CLOSED

P
age 126



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

classed as slight injury (cuts and bruises) and occurred in 
September 2015 on Thornley Road.  A vehicle was driven from 
the main road into the rear of Tobin Street and in doing so, 
turned right across the path of an approaching motorcycle which 
then swerved and collided with a parked vehicle.  The driver of 
the vehicle turning into the rear street was deemed to be at fault 
with causation considered to be driver error and speed was not 
identified as a contributory factor in the incident.

Compared to many other locations within the county, this 
represents a favourable accident record and therefore DCC 
must continue to prioritise our limited road safety budgets at 
locations with the worst proven record of personal injury 
accidents.

Community Speed Watch
As part of the partnership approach to improving road safety, 
joint working with Durham Constabulary, has enabled the 
introduction of an initiative known as ‘Community Speed Watch’.  
This initiative has been very successful elsewhere in the County 
and nationally.

Under the Community Speed Watch initiative, all speeding 
complaints are directed towards Durham Constabulary and their 
Police and Communities Together (PACT) Meetings, enabling 
the appropriate level of intervention and action to be considered.

P
age 127



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

Petition 348

Protect grassed areas in 
South Hetton from 
unauthorised traveller 
encampments

Petition received – 16.8.18
No. of signatures – 185

Louise Stokoe, GRT 
Interventions Co-ordinator

Petition asking the Council to protect grassed areas in South 
Hetton from unauthorised traveller encampments/

Meetings have been held with the local councillors, parish 
council, Durham Constabulary and DCC officers to discuss 
actions.

Response requested by 3 September

Awaiting response

P
age 128



Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board

14 September 2018

Notice of Key Decisions

Report of Corporate Management Team
Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Purpose of the Report

1 To consider the list of key decisions that is scheduled to be considered 
by the Executive. 

Background

2 New rules in relation to Executive decisions were introduced by The 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, which came into force on 10 
September 2012. 

3 The regulations took away the requirement for the Executive to 
produce a Forward Plan of key decisions, however introduced that the 
decision maker cannot make a key decision unless a document has 
been published at least 28 clear days before the decision is taken, 
unless either a general exception or special urgency requirements 
have been met.  The document which has to be published must state:

a) that the key decision is to be made on behalf of the relevant local 
authority

b) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made

c) where the decision maker is an individual, that individual’s name 
and title if any and where the decision maker is a decision making 
body, its name and list of its members

d) the date on which or the period within which the decision is to be 
made

e) a list of the document submitted to the decision maker for 
consideration in relation to the matter of which the key decision is 
to be made

f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on 
their disclosure copies of, or extracts from any document listed as 
available

Page 129

Agenda Item 10



g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted 
to the decision maker

h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) 
as they become available.

4 The requirements also apply to an exempt matter as previously it did 
not strictly have to be included in the Forward Plan. Now a publicity 
document must contain particulars of the matter, but may not contain 
any confidential exempt information or particulars of the adviser or 
political adviser or assistant.

5 Notices of key decisions that are being produced meet the legal 
requirements of publication, as well as continuing to provide 
information for a four month period. Members will therefore be able to 
consider key decisions as previously for the four month period.

Current Notice of Key Decisions

6 The notice of key decisions that is attached to the report at Appendix 2, 
is the latest to be published prior to the papers for the Board being 
dispatched to members. The notice complies with the requirements for 
Cabinet to be able to take key decisions at the meeting on 12 
September 2018. It also contained information on those key decisions 
that are currently scheduled to be considered by the Executive up to 31 
December 2018.

7 The information in the Notice of Key Decisions provides the Board with 
the opportunity of considering whether it wishes to seek to influence 
any of these key decisions, or to request further information. Members 
are asked to note that this version of the Notice has been amended 
and includes a column which has been added to advise of the relevant 
Scrutiny activity.   

8 In responding to the request of the Board for further information to be 
provided on any items that are removed from the previous notice 
without being considered by Cabinet, this information will be provided 
at the meeting. If the Board wished to examine any of the key 
decisions, consideration would need to be given as to how this could 
be accommodated in the Overview and Scrutiny Work programme. 

Recommendation

9 You are recommended to give consideration to items listed in the 
notice.

Contact: Ros Layfield, Committee, Member and Civic Services Manager    
Tel: 03000 269708
Jenny Haworth, Head of Strategy, Transformation and 
Partnerships Tel: 03000 268071 

Page 130



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance:  Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Staffing: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Risk: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty: Will be reflected in 
each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Accommodation: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Crime and Disorder Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Human Rights: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Consultation: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Procurement: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Disability Issues: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Legal Implications: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION ONE - CORPORATE

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main 
Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact 
details for 
further 
information

P
age 133



SECTION TWO -  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead 
Cabinet 
Member

Main 
Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact 
details for 
further 
information

P
age 134



SECTION THREE - ADULT AND HEALTH SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead 
Cabinet 
Member

Main 
Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact 
details for 
further 
information

P
age 135



SECTION FOUR  - REGENERATION AND LOCAL SERVICES 

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main 
Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details 
for further 
information

Scrutiny 
involvement

REAL/02/18 17/10/18 Housing Policy 
Consultation 
Draft 

Portfolio Holder 
for Strategic 
Housing and 
Assets 

Public 
Consultation

Graeme Smith 
03000 263610

Arrangements have 
been made for an 
Overview and 
Scrutiny workshop to 
be held during the 
consultation period to 
which all Overview 
and Scrutiny 
members will be 
invited. The 
comments made by 
members during the 
workshop will form 
the Overview and 
Scrutiny response 
which will be fed into 
the ongoing 
consultation.

P
age 136



SECTION FOUR  - REGENERATION AND LOCAL SERVICES 

REAL/05/18 12/12/18 County Durham 
Plan Submission 
Draft

Portfolio Holders 
for Economic 
Regeneration 
and for Strategic 
Housing and 
Assets 

Public 
Consultation

Mike Allum
03000 261906

An Overview and 
Scrutiny workshop 
was held on the 9 
July 2018 following 
which an Overview 
and Scrutiny 
response was 
prepared and fed into 
the Preferred Options 
consultation stage.  A 
further  Overview and 
Scrutiny workshop is 
planned for the 4 
February 2019 
following which an 
Overview and 
Scrutiny response 
will be prepared and 
fed into the Pre- 
Submission Draft 
consultation. 

REAL/06/18 12/09/18 Delivery 
Proposals for 
Aykley Heads 
Delivery Vehicle 
Strategic Site

Portfolio Holders 
for Economic 
Regeneration 
and for Finance

Public 
Consultation

Fiona Ford
03000 264711

P
age 137



SECTION FOUR  - REGENERATION AND LOCAL SERVICES 

REAL/07/18 12/12/18 Homelessness 
Review and 
Strategy

Portfolio Holder 
for Strategic 
Housing and 
Assets

Public 
Consultation

Lynn Hall    
03000 265728

The Economy and 
Enterprise OSC have 
scheduled for the 
meeting on the 10 
January 2019 a 
report on the 
progress of the 
Homelessness 
Strategy and the 
implications of the 
Homelessness 
Reduction Act .

REAL/08/18 17/10/18 Housing 
Solutions - 
Private Sector 
Housing Policy

Portfolio Holder 
for Strategic 
Housing and 
Assets

Public 
Consultation

Lynn Hall    
03000 265728

The Economy and 
Enterprise OSC have 
scheduled for the 
Special meeting on 
the 11 March 2019  a 
report detailing work 
undertaken with the 
private housing 
sector  and the 
performance of the 
various schemes and 
projects.

P
age 138



Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board

14 September 2018

Information update from the 
Chairs of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships  

Purpose of the Report

1 To present to Members an information update of overview and scrutiny activity from 22 
June – September 2018.

Background

2 It has previously been agreed that a written report of Chairs’ updates would be 
presented for information only to all Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Boards. Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
(COSMB) are encouraged to get involved in any area of Overview and Scrutiny activity 
via thematic committees and/or talk to Scrutiny Committee Chairs and OS Officers on 
areas of project/overview activity.

Updates

3 Updates from Overview and Scrutiny Committees are from June – September 2018.

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

There is no scrutiny review activity for this period.

Overview 
reports/
Presentations

COSMB on 22 June 2018 received reports and presentations on:
 Transformation Programme update
 Q4 Performance
 Q4 Customer Feedback
 O/S Annual Report 2017/18
 Work Programme refresh
 Petitions update
 Notice of key decisions
 Chairs’ briefing.

Page 139

Agenda Item 11



Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (SSC OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

Cybercrime – review recommendations agreed and report was 
presented to Cabinet in May 2018 and to Safe Durham Partnership 
Board in July 2018

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

SSC OSC on 25 June 2018 received reports and presentations on:

 Open Water Safety 
 Local Multi Agency Problem Solving (LMAPS) – Mapping 

System 
 Progress of recommendations from review activity on Alcohol 

and its Demand on Emergency Services 
 Refresh of Work Programme.

A special Joint meeting with CYP OSC was held on 24 July 2018, see 
CYP OSC for information on the agenda.

Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (E & E OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

Review of retail support provided by DCC – members at the meetings 
on 9 July received a presentation on the retail and town centre 
policies in the County Durham Plan and received detail of the 
development of the Chester le-Street masterplan. 

Members of the review group met on the 3 September to consider the 
key findings and recommendations.

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

The Economy and Enterprise OSC on 26 June 2018 received reports 
and presentations on:

 Overview of the work of the County Durham Economic 
Partnership.

 Progress of the DurhamWorks Programme.
 Refresh of the work programme.

An Overview and Scrutiny workshop led by the Economy and 
Enterprise OSC was held on the 9 July providing an opportunity for 
Overview and Scrutiny to comment on the Preferred Options stage of 
the County Durham Plan.  The comments made by members formed 
the Overview and Scrutiny response which was fed into the ongoing 
consultation. 

Page 140



Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Environment OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

Review of DCC’s future allotment policy – the review has been 
paused pending feedback to the review group from the formal 
consultation to be undertaken by the Service Grouping.

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

The Environment OSC on 13 July 2018 received reports and 
presentations on:

 Overview of the work of the County Durham Environment 
Partnership Board

 Current and future arrangements for Leisureworks
 Refresh of the work programme.

A Special Environment OSC on the 3 September 2018 to which 
Adults, Wellbeing and Health OSC members were also invited 
received a report and presentation on:

 The draft Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan 
consultation – the comments made by members formed the 
Overview and Scrutiny response which was fed into the 
ongoing consultation 

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYP OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

CYP OSC on 2 July 2018, Members received an update on the 
progress of recommendations of the Take up of Free School Meals 
and Holiday Provision Review Report

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

The Review Group looking at the Role of the Social Worker from a 
child's perspective has now completed its evidence gathering.  The 
draft report will be presented to the committee and it is expected that 
a report will be presented to Cabinet later in the year

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

The CYP OSC on 2 July 2018 received reports and presentations on:

 Draft Children’s Strategy
 Child Poverty
 Stronger Families Programme
 Refresh of the Work Programme.

At a special Joint meeting with SSC OSC on 24 July 2018, Members 
received reports and presentations on:

 Erase.

Page 141



Adults, Well-being and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (AWH OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report on for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

The AWH OSC Review of Suicide Rates and Mental Health and 
Wellbeing in County Durham has completed its evidence gathering 
and a further meeting of the Review group will be held to identify key 
findings and recommendations prior to production of the review 
report. 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

AWH OSC on 6 July 2018 received reports and presentations on:
 Review of Stroke Rehabilitation Services in County Durham
 Review of Urgent Care Hubs across Durham Dales, Easington 

and Sedgefield CCG
 Adult and Health Services Update
 Public Health Update
 Quarter 4 Performance Management
 NHS Foundation Trust 2017/18 Quality Accounts
 Refresh of the Work Programme.

A special meeting of the Committee was held on 7 September 2018 
where members considered reports and presentations in respect of:-

 Community Hospitals
 Shotley Bridge Hospital
 NHS England’s Review of Vascular Services
 Review of Urgent Care Hubs across Durham Dales, Easington 

and Sedgefield CCG
 County Durham Healthwatch Annual Report 2017-18.

Performance/Budget/Work Programme Reporting

4 Information on both performance and outturn reports continue to be received and 
commented upon.

Regional Scrutiny

5 The Durham Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby 
STP Joint Health Scrutiny Committee met on 13 June 2018.  The Committee 
received a verbal update from Alan Foster, Durham Darlington and Teesside 
Hambleton Richmondshire and Whitby STP lead officer  covering the following issues: 

i. The future of Sustainability and Transformation Plans
ii. Development of an Integrated Care Partnership System/Network and what this 

means for the STP
iii. Progress updates on the STP workstreams including the Better Health 

Programme/Acute Hospitals Model development.

Page 142

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1112
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1112


6 The Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham STP Joint Health 
Scrutiny Committee met on 25 June 2018. The agenda included:

i. Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair for the ensuing municipal year 
ii. Workforce workstream progress update.
iii. Integrated Care System update.
iv. Work programme update.

The Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham STP Joint Health 
Scrutiny Committee also met on 16th July 2018. The agenda included:

i.      An update on the Empowering Communities programme which detailed 
communications and engagement plans for integrated health and care.

ii.      Work programme update.

7 The Regional Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 21st June 
2018.  The agenda included:

i. Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair for the ensuing municipal year.
ii. Terms of reference for the North East Joint Health OSC
iii. The Committee’s proposed work programme for 2018-19
iv. Recommendations to the Joint Health Scrutiny Committee made by Durham 

County Council’s Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC regarding NHS England’s 
proposed Review of Vascular Services across the North East.

v. Specialist Services update in respect of Neonatal Intensive Care.

8 North East Combined Authority (NECA)

The Chair and Vice-Chair of COSMB represent DCC on the NECA Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  The agenda for the meeting which took place on 16 July 2018 is 
set out below:

i. Thematic lead update report for Economic Development and Regeneration
ii. Digital Connectivity update report
iii. NECA Forward Plan and Scrutiny Work Programme

Recommendation

9 Members are invited to receive the report and note the information contained therein.

Background Papers:  Previous committee reports/presentations.

Contact: Jenny Haworth      Tel: 03000 268071

Page 143

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1112
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1112
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1112
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1112


Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – N/A

Staffing – N/A

Risk – N/A

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – N/A

Accommodation – N/A

Crime and Disorder – N/A

Human Rights – N/A

Consultation – N/A

Procurement – N/A

Disability Issues – N/A

Legal Implications – N/A

Page 144


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2018
	5 Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan (7) - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships.
	6 Medium Term Financial Plan(9), 2019/20-2022/23 and Reviews of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, Council Tax Discounts and Business Discretionary Rate Reliefs - Joint Report of the Corporate Director of Resources and Director of Transformation and Partnerships.
	2.1 Appx 2 -  Final MTFP(9) July 18 Cabinet Report

	7 Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 (Resources and TAP)
	TAP - Outturn 2017-18 Scrutiny(FINAL)

	8 Quarter 1 June 2018: Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19  (Resources and TAP)
	3.4 TAP -  QTR1 Forecast Outturn 2018-19 Scrutiny (FINAL)

	9 Update in relation to Petitions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	4.1 091418-COSMB-Petitions-App2

	10 Notice of Key Decisions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	Notice of Key Decisions

	11 Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships

